University of Texas at Arlington

MavMatrix

2021 Spring Honors Capstone Projects

Honors College

5-1-2021

INVESTIGATION OF AFFECTIVE ANXIETY USING AN ACIDIC SALINE-INDUCED MODEL OF FIBROMYALGIA IN RATS

Michelle Bland

Follow this and additional works at: https://mavmatrix.uta.edu/honors_spring2021

Recommended Citation

Bland, Michelle, "INVESTIGATION OF AFFECTIVE ANXIETY USING AN ACIDIC SALINE-INDUCED MODEL OF FIBROMYALGIA IN RATS" (2021). *2021 Spring Honors Capstone Projects*. 18. https://mavmatrix.uta.edu/honors_spring2021/18

This Honors Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Honors College at MavMatrix. It has been accepted for inclusion in 2021 Spring Honors Capstone Projects by an authorized administrator of MavMatrix. For more information, please contact leah.mccurdy@uta.edu, erica.rousseau@uta.edu, vanessa.garrett@uta.edu.

Copyright © by Michelle K. Bland 2021

All Rights Reserved

INVESTIGATION OF AFFECTIVE ANXIETY USING AN ACIDIC SALINE-INDUCED MODEL OF FIBROMYALGIA IN RATS

by

MICHELLE K. BLAND

Presented to the Faculty of the Honors College of

The University of Texas at Arlington in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements

for the Degree of

HONORS BACHELOR OF SCIENCE IN BIOLOGY

THE UNIVERSITY OF TEXAS AT ARLINGTON

May 2021

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I want to begin by thanking Dr. Perry Fuchs for his guidance throughout this Capstone Project and for his role as a research mentor over the last two years. I also extend my immense and sincere thanks toward Cassie Argenbright, whose immeasurable support, patience, and humor have made this thesis possible. Finally, I wish to thank the rest of Dr. Fuchs' graduate students, Tiffany Aguirre, Dr. Maxine Geltmeier, and Dr. Celina Salcido, as well as his research lab for their aid and contributions to this project.

I would also like to thank a few other graduate students I have worked with over the years – in particular, Dr. Ryan Hulla, Olatunji Ojo, Norma Garza, Abigail Heller, and Kristen Hull. While you may not realize your impact, I owe much of my progress and persistence to you.

And my friends – Christian Anderson, Ayleen Arteaga, Benny Awosika, Kat Baumgartner, Jaden Bishop, Regine Choi, Carlee Painter, Benito Puentes, Miranda Rowe, Abigail Moriah Smith, Garrett Walker, Jonathan Withers, Omar Yanouri, and more – I thank you for your endless encouragement, humor, and caring. All of you are indispensable parts of my life, and I offer my sincerest gratitude for your friendship and optimism.

To Sarah and Ivan Bland, my parents, thank you. All my life, the two of you have instilled a love of learning and a passion for scientific truth. Your support and love make everything possible.

April 11, 2021

iii

ABSTRACT

INVESTIGATION OF AFFECTIVE ANXIETY USING AN ACIDIC SALINE-INDUCED MODEL OF FIBROMYALGIA IN RATS

Michelle K. Bland, B.S. Biology

The University of Texas at Arlington, 2021

Faculty Mentor: Dr. Perry N. Fuchs

Fibromyalgia is a complex, yet prevalent pain disorder characterized by noninflammatory, musculoskeletal chronic widespread pain and extensive comorbidity with negative emotional affect. Preclinical studies have successfully modeled the longlasting, bilateral mechanical hyperalgesia characteristic of fibromyalgia in rodents using repeated, intramuscular injections of acidic saline, though few have examined whether this technique might also induce similar affective comorbidities to those seen in human patients. Thus, the present study utilized the open field test to assess whether acid-induced hyperalgesia produces measurable changes to locomotor activity, exploratory drive, or hind paw sensitivity. The model was also extended to evaluate pregabalin's efficacy as a subsequent anxiolytic treatment. No significant difference was found for distance or mean velocity traveled between pain conditions regardless of the area of the chamber measured. On average, animals reared more at baseline, though there were no significant differences across pain conditions. Pregabalin produced a global increase in locomotor behavior without ataxic symptoms, though this effect did not differ regardless of whether the acidic saline model was present or not. Mixed findings warrant further investigation of affective dimensions within the acidic saline model; wherein future replications should examine whether the effects of acid-induced pain extend beyond sensory and affective components.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	iii
ABSTRACT	iv
LIST OF ILLUSTRATIONS	viii
Chapter	
1. INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 Fibromyalgia	1
1.1.1 Pathophysiology in Humans	4
1.1.2 Affective Components and Comorbidity	7
1.1.3 Treatments	10
1.2 Preclinical Models of Fibromyalgia in Rodents	13
1.2.1 Open Field Paradigm	15
1.3 Hypotheses	18
2. METHODOLOGY	21
2.1 Subjects	21
2.2 Materials	21
2.2.1 Mechanical Paw Withdrawal Threshold	21
2.2.2 Open Field Test	22
2.2.3 Acidic Saline Model	23
2.2.4 Pregabalin Treatment	24
2.3 Procedure	24

2.4 Analyses Plan	26
3. RESULTS	28
3.1 Analysis of Total Distance	28
3.2 Analysis of Total Mean Velocity	29
3.3 Analysis of Total Rears	31
3.4 Analysis of Center Distance	33
3.5 Analysis of Center Mean Velocity	35
3.6 Analysis of Outside Distance	35
3.7 Analysis of Outside Mean Velocity	37
4. DISCUSSION	39
4.1 Does the Acidic Saline Model Increase Anxiety-Like Behavior?	41
4.2 Is Pregabalin Effective as an Anxiolytic Treatment?	42
4.3 Limitations and Future Directions	44
5. CONCLUSION	47
REFERENCES	48
BIOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION	70

LIST OF ILLUSTRATIONS

Figure		Page
1.1	Diagnostic location of 18 tender points	2
1.2	The open field test as a measure of rodent anxiety	17
2.1	Injection and testing timeline over a six-day period	24
2.2	Sectioning of the open field	27
3.1	Estimated marginal means of total distance between condition and time	29
3.2	Estimated marginal means of total distance between conditions at post-treatment	29
3.3	Estimated marginal means of total mean velocity between condition and time	31
3.4	Estimated marginal means of total mean velocity between conditions at post-treatment	31
3.5	Estimated marginal means of total rears between condition and time	32
3.6	Estimated marginal means of center distance between condition and time	34
3.7	Estimated marginal means of center distance between conditions at post-treatment	34
3.8	Estimated marginal means of center mean velocity between condition and time	35
3.9	Estimated marginal means of outside distance between condition and time	36
3.10	Estimated marginal means of outside distance between conditions at post-treatment	37

3.11	Estimated marginal means of outside mean velocity between condition and time	38
3.12	Estimated marginal means of outside mean velocity between conditions at post-treatment	38

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

1.1 Fibromyalgia

Fibromyalgia (FM) is a pain disorder characterized by chronic widespread pain (CWP) lasting for more than 3 months, without detectable inflammation or structural abnormalities and for which no alternative cause can be identified (Cimmino, Ferrone, & Cutolo, 2011; Williams & Clauw, 2009). Patients with fibromyalgia present with heightened and painful responses to pressure, which is described in the tenth edition of the International Classification of Diseases (ICD) as the presence of ≥ 11 out of 18 localized tender point sites on either side of the body (see Figure 1.1; Wolfe et al., 1990; World Health Organization, 2004). This phenomenon is known as *abnormal pain perception* processing, in which individuals experience higher sensitivity to pain (e.g., a lowered threshold to normally painful stimuli, also known as *hyperalgesia*) than those without the disorder (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2020; International Association for the Study of Pain, 2017). In some cases, patients may also present with *allodynia*, an abnormal pain response to a stimulus that does not normally provoke pain (IASP, 2017). Other symptoms include excessive fatigue, *paresthesia* (a numbness, tingling, or pricking sensation of the skin), joint stiffness, memory problems, sleep disturbances, and emotional and mental distress (Hsu, 2011; Yunus, 2001), often leading to cumulative dysfunction and disability in various domains of the person's daily life (Verbunt, Pernot, & Smeets, 2008).

Figure 1.1: Diagnostic location of 18 tender points.



Note: Fibromyalgia was previously diagnosed by assessing the presence of mechanical sensitivity at 9 pairs of pressure points distributed symmetrically across the median plane (United States Social Security Administration, 2012).

Astonishingly, fibromyalgia is estimated to affect around 4 million adults in the United States alone (CDC, 2020), though some researchers believe up to 75% of cases may go undiagnosed in a population (Clauw, Arnold, & McCarberg, 2011). Importantly, women appear to be disproportionally affected by fibromyalgia; the gender ratio of diagnosed cases is reported as anywhere from 3:1 to 6:1 in females to males, though survey research indicates the disparity might be as high as 9:1 (Queiroz, 2013; Hsu, 2011; Yunus, 2001). Prevalence is highest in middle-aged women, who comprise around 75% to 90% of those diagnosed (Bennett et al., 2007; Robinson et al., 2013; Wolfe et al., 2010). However, this overwhelming gender imbalance may actually arise from diagnostic protocols and the

tender point standard itself. In practice, females tend to report a greater number of tender points and more intense pain at these sites than their male counterparts, leading to an overrepresentation among diagnoses (Arout et al., 2018). Modern standards have progressively opted to eliminate the presence of tender points as a determining diagnostic criterion, and thus, gender differences in fibromyalgia appear to be far smaller than previously estimated, approximately 3.4% in women and 0.5% in men (Wolfe et al., 1990; Lindell et al., 2000).

Regardless of demographic distribution, fibromyalgia represents a major burden to all those who suffer from it and, despite changes to diagnostic protocols, the overall prevalence of this condition is still staggeringly high – though the exact figure is somewhat disputed. Early reports suggested fibromyalgia to affect nearly 2% of the general population (Wolfe et al., 1995); however, estimates from the 2000s onward tend to be higher – between 6% to 13% in some samples (Barsante Santos et al., 2010; Vincent et al., 2015). Although prevalence rates differ, it is still clear fibromyalgia represents a significant portion of the chronic pain population, resulting in considerable and frequent dysfunction on a day-to-day basis. Fibromyalgia patients tend to experience significant functional impairment due to their chronic pain and comorbidities (Penrod et al., 2004; Cosci et al., 2011), culminating in reduced physical functioning, mental health, and quality of life for these individuals and their spouses (Hoffman & Dukes, 2007; Bigatti & Cronan, 2002). Many face additional economic burdens from lost job productivity, work disability, and unemployment related to their condition (Lacasse et al., 2016; Al-Allaf, 2007; Sanchez et al., 2011) and experience high costs when purchasing prescribed pain medications and paying for consultations from the multiple medical specialists required for effective management of symptoms (Berger et al., 2007; Wolfe et al., 1997). Despite the dire needs of these individuals, research and awareness of fibromyalgia is limited but greatly warranted. Along with the obvious benefits toward the patient themselves, as well as to their support networks and local communities, improved understanding of this condition and chronic widespread pain is likely to provide new groundwork for prevention and treatment of other chronic pain syndromes as a whole.

1.1.1 Pathophysiology in Humans

Despite the condition's high overall prevalence in the population and its significant impairment of patients, fibromyalgia is still poorly understood by researchers, physicians, and the general public. Before the eighteenth century, the specific presentation of musculoskeletal pain now associated with fibromyalgia was thought to be a form of rheumatism, later termed *fibrositis*, or inflammation of the fibre, by neurologist Sir William Gowers in 1904. The term fibromyalgia was first introduced in the 1970s once it was understood that, characteristically, pain was not accompanied by any detectable inflammation or structural abnormalities (Inanici & Yunus, 2004). However, fibromyalgia was not recognized as a medical condition in the United States until nearly twenty years later in 1987, when the American Medical Association first identified it as a disease entity causing illness and disability (Mandal, 2019). Indeed, our understanding of fibromyalgia and its mechanisms has only expanded within the last 35 years since its characterization, though there remains no widely accepted causal factor or explanation for the condition.

Currently, fibromyalgia pain is understood to be a noninflammatory, muscularbased form of chronic widespread pain (CWP), though the condition itself may often be comorbid with other inflammatory components (Cimmino et al., 2011). This definition was

4

largely based on the 1990 criteria of chronic widespread pain defined by American College of Rheumatology as being (1) bilateral (on both sides of the body), (2) localized simultaneously above and below the waist, (3) in both the axial and peripheral skeleton, and (4) that lasts for at least three months (Wolfe et al., 1990). The pain is also typically described as being diffuse and migratory, such that an originating site of the pain cannot always be pinpointed on or in the body (Aaron & Buchwald, 2003), though pain in deep tissues, such as in ligaments and joints, is commonly reported (Staud & Rodriguez, 2006). Within the bodies of literature and in practice, patients with fibromyalgia most consistently exhibit increased sensitivity to pressure, which is termed *mechanical hyperalgesia* or *mechanical allodynia* (Granges & Littlejohn, 1993; Petzke et al., 2003), leading to the popularity and practice of using the nine paired tender points as a diagnostic criterion (see Figure 1.1).

Currently, modern research into the potential mechanisms of fibromyalgia focuses heavily on determining a neurobiological origin for the condition. Based on studies and imaging conducted on diagnosed case samples and animal models, it is generally understood that the abnormal pain processing characteristic of fibromyalgia is related to amplification of pain and sensory signals within a malfunctioning central nervous system (Hsu, 2011; DeSantana & Sluka, 2008; Staud & Rodriguez, 2006). This general hypothesis was greatly strengthened by data collected from functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) revealing greater brain activity in areas related to the processing of *nociceptive* (aversive) stimuli as well as activation of these regions at lesser stimuli than healthy controls (Gracely et al., 2002; Cook et al., 2004; Nebel & Gracely, 2009). These amplified signals are suggested to arise from *central sensitization*, or increased response to the same stimulus, leading to the exaggerated perception of painful stimuli and the perception of innocuous stimuli as painful (Staud & Smitherman, 2002; Staud & Rodriguez, 2006).

The causal mechanism of sensitization within the central nervous system is not fully understood but is thought to be triggered by interactions between genetic predispositions and environmental stressors (i.e., from infection, trauma, or stress), with kev genetic polymorphisms implicated in serotoninergic, dopaminergic, and catecholaminergic pathways (Buskila, 2009). Current theories in this field of research attempt to explain both initiation and maintenance of abnormal pain perception, modulation, and interpretation leading to chronic widespread pain. Broadly, these include deficits in endogenous pain inhibition systems (Julien et al., 2005; Jensen et al., 2009; Nielsen & Henriksson, 2007), neuroplastic changes to the brain and spinal cord (Petersel, Dror, & Cheung, 2010; Staud & Spaeth, 2008), alterations to the hypothalamus-pituitaryadrenocortical (HPA) axis and the autonomic nervous system itself (Williams & Clauw, 2009; Crofford, 2002), imbalance between excitatory and inhibitory descending controls (Clauw, Arnold, & McCarberg, 2011; DeSantana & Sluka, 2008), and increased neuronal excitability and enhanced temporal summation during firing (Price & Staud, 2005; Price et al., 2002). Actions of certain receptors, such as N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptors, are believed to contribute to abnormal neuronal firing, along with specific neurotransmitters (e.g., glutamate) and neuropeptide enhancer molecules (e.g., substance P, nerve growth factor, and neurotrophins) which diffuse in the spinal cord and lead to widespread pain throughout the body (Hsu, 2011; Meeus & Nijs, 2006; Nielsen & Henriksson, 2007).

Until the late 2000s, central factors, like those previously discussed, were thought to be the only neurogenic mechanisms involved in fibromyalgia, as no specific muscle pathology or consistent muscle changes had been observed in diagnosed patients. However, increasing evidence has found measurable changes to peripheral tissues of fibromyalgia patients, such as increased levels of substance P and interleukin-1 (IL-1) (Sprott et al., 1998; Salemi et al., 2003), ragged red fibers and "moth-eaten" fibers (Bengtsson, Henriksson, & Larsson, 1986), as well as muscle tension, perfusion abnormalities (passage of fluid through the muscle tissue), and *ischemia* (inadequate blood flow to the muscle tissue) (Lund, Bengtsson, & Thorborg, 1986; Elvin et al., 2006). These discoveries in peripheral tissues are now believed to sensitize muscle nociceptors to sensory input, indirectly contributing to and maintaining central mechanisms of pain amplification seen in these patients (Staud & Rodriguez, 2006; Staud, 2006). In updating our previous understanding of abnormal pain processing, fibromyalgia is currently considered to result from the combined contributions of central sensitization and sensory augmentation, arising from interactions between biopsychosocial factors in the individual's genetics and environment.

1.1.2 Affective Components and Comorbidity

Despite rapid breakthroughs in fibromyalgia research within the last half century, there still remains significant gaps in our understanding of this pain condition. To this point, research has focused heavily on the physical, sensory dimension of pain to explain chronic widespread pain and abnormal pain processing. In practice, however, each individual's experience and presentation of pain is unique, distinct, and isolated. This extensive interpersonal variation between cases, including among those who share the same diagnosis, which cannot fully be explained by a physical component alone. Instead, researchers believe there is also an emotional, *affective* dimension that interacts with aversive, nociceptive sensation to form the individual's subjective pain experience (Rainville, 2002). This idea of a multidimensional pain experience is the foundation for the current definition of pain used in research, which is defined as "an unpleasant sensory and emotional experience associated with actual or potential damage or described in terms of such damage" (IASP, 1999). Within this description, an affective-motivational dimension of pain, or *pain affect*, is recognized, having previously been defined as a person's cognitive appraisal of the unpleasantness of the pain sensation (Price & Harkins, 1992).

Pain affect has huge implications for research and clinical management of pain, especially in patients who suffer from chronic pain. It is now understood that all nociception undergoes modulation in the central nervous system by conscious and unconscious mental activity (Loeser, 1991), allowing sociocultural influences and personal biases to shape how pain is experienced by the individual in a bidirectional relationship (Price, 1999; Rainville, Bao, & Chrétien, 2005). In particular, cognitions related to cause, control, duration, outcome, and blame are frequently linked to negative emotions, such as anger, fear, and depression (Staud & Rodriguez, 2006; Staud, 2006). These negative appraisals are powerful and greatly influence the unified pain experience, such as by augmenting one's perceptions of the pain's unpleasantness (Wade et al., 1990; Taenzer, Melzack, & Jeans, 1986) and intensity (Staud et al., 2003; Staud et al., 2004).

Recent research suggests negative emotionality to play a dynamic role in the origin and maintenance of fibromyalgia pain, in that the chronic widespread pain associated with the condition is especially prone to the effects of negative mood (Davis, Zautra, & Reich, 2001; Staud et al., 2003). When comparing two groups of patients diagnosed with either fibromyalgia or general chronic musculoskeletal pain, Montoya and colleagues (2005) reported that tactile pain ratings among fibromyalgia patients were differentially modulated by emotional context compared to controls, as patients showed significantly higher vulnerabilities to pain in a negative affective state compared to a positive affective state. Even within pure fibromyalgia samples, studies show that a significant portion of variance in individual pain ratings are accounted for by negative affect (Staud et al., 2003; Staud et al., 2004; Staud et al., 2006). In the opposite direction, positive cognitions, such as pain acceptance and greater *self-efficacy* (belief in one's ability to influence events that occur in one's life; Bandura, 2010), are known to buffer the severity of pain associated with fibromyalgia and improve functional outcomes among patients (Kratz, Davis, & Zautra, 2007; Buckelew et al., 1996).

It has been suggested, however, the relationship between negative emotionality and fibromyalgia extends beyond a general vulnerability or dispositional association with pain. Even among other chronic pain disorders, fibromyalgia shows significant co-occurrence with mood and anxiety disorders (Bradley, 2005; Buskila & Cohen, 2007). 74% of fibromyalgia patients experience a lifetime prevalence of depression, while 60% exhibit extended comorbidity with certain anxiety disorders (Cole et al., 2006; Arnold et al., 2006; Thieme, Turk, & Flor, 2004), both of which share multiple familial risk factors with fibromyalgia (Raphael et al., 2004; Arnold et al., 2013). Furthermore, individuals who suffer from fibromyalgia are also more likely to be diagnosed with conditions known to be related to stress, such as irritable bowel syndrome (IBS) and frequent migraine headaches, as well as with sleep disorders and chronic fatigue syndrome (Hudson et al., 1993). Indeed,

a cross-sectional survey of fibromyalgia patients found that over 50% had seven or more comorbidities, including those aforementioned (Vincent et al., 2015).

While it is clear that strong relationships exist between fibromyalgia pain, negative affect and psychosocial beliefs, and comorbidity with certain psychiatric and chronic conditions, comprehensive research conducted on these connections is limited at this point. Due to this, there exists great controversy and criticisms over whether fibromyalgia should be classified as a somatoform disorder of psychogenic origin (Häuser & Henningsen, 2014). However, the general consensus among pain researchers and treating clinicians is that its manifestation of chronic widespread pain firmly categorizes fibromyalgia as a pain disorder, which itself interacts with biopsychosocial factors (Häuser & Fitzcharles, 2018). Currently, researchers do not yet know how, or if, the addition of an affective dimension to the prevailing model could further explain these connections. Concerted research in this domain is key to clarifying why emotional and psychosocial factors appear to be so strongly related to fibromyalgia and chronic widespread pain.

1.1.3 Treatments

Treatment options for fibromyalgia are as numerous and varied as its presentations in patients and aim to alleviate chronic widespread pain, increase restorative sleep, and improve physical functioning and quality of life in patients (Bellato et al., 2012). In most cases, an integrated approach is preferred for symptom management which combines the use of drug therapies with complementary interventions, such as exercise, physical therapy, acupuncture, and cognitive-behavioral therapy (Mease, 2005; Rooks, 2007). The most commonly prescribed pharmacotherapies for fibromyalgia are antidepressants, followed by opioids, nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs), muscle relaxants, and sedatives (Skaer, 2014; Mease, Dundon, & Sarzi-Puttini, 2011; Kim, Landon, & Solomon, 2013). Furthermore, the United States Food and Drug Administration (FDA) currently approves three different medications specifically for treatment of fibromyalgia pain: duloxetine and milnacipran, both of which are dual serotonin-norepinephrine reuptake inhibitors (SNRIs), as well as pregabalin, a gabapentinoid alpha2-delta ($\alpha_2\delta$) ligand (Hsu, 2011; Mease et al., 2011). In this study, we specifically focused on the mechanism of action of pregabalin; however, drug therapies are typically prescribed in varying combinations to achieve highest efficacy and are highly tailored to the patient's symptom presentation and comorbidities (Mease et al., 2011; Kim et al., 2013).

Pregabalin, marketed under the brand name Lyrica, was the first drug approved by the FDA for management of fibromyalgia in 2007, having been originally marketed as an antiepileptic (Boomershine, 2010; Ben-Menachem, 2004). A structural analog of the inhibitory neurotransmitter GABA (gamma(γ)-aminobutyric acid), pregabalin is a potent ligand of the $\alpha_2\delta$ subunits located on voltage-gated calcium channels in the central nervous system (Ben-Menachem, 2004). Ligand binding acts to inhibit these channels and reduce calcium influx at nerve terminals, decreasing release of several excitatory neurotransmitters, such as glutamate, norepinephrine, and substance P (Dooley et al., 2007; Taylor, Angelotti, & Fauman, 2007). This decrease in neurotransmitter release is presumed to account for the *analgesic* (pain-relieving), anticonvulsant, and *anxiolytic*-like (anxietyreducing) actions of this drug (Lyseng-Williamson & Siddiqui, 2008; Ben-Menachem, 2004). In fibromyalgia patients, pregabalin is found to significantly improve pain ratings and sleep quality compared to placebos (Boomershine, 2010). Further, in 8-, 12-, and 28week randomized, double-blinded, placebo-controlled clinical trials, patients who received pregabalin treatment reported significant improvement in fibromyalgia-specific symptoms and functionality, physical and emotional functioning, and overall perception of symptom improvement (Crofford et al., 2005; Arnold et al., 2008; Crofford et al., 2008). Due to its high efficacy and relatively low potential for drug-to-drug interactions, pregabalin is considered to be well-tolerated among patients and of high clinical utility in the treatment of fibromyalgia (Ben-Menachem, 2004; Arnold et al., 2018).

Despite FDA and clinician approval of the pharmacological therapies discussed, there is no known cure for fibromyalgia or the chronic widespread pain it presents with, and, furthermore, some patients do not respond fully to medication alone (Prabhakar et al., 2019; Arnold, 2006). Current treatment guidelines also call for concurrent evaluation and treatment of comorbidity, emphasizing the need for a multimodal approach individualized to each patient (Goldenberg, Burckhardt, & Crofford, 2004; Arnold, 2008). Due to these considerations, and in order to manage long-term symptoms, many patients seek out alternative or complementary interventions in combination with prescribed medications (Pioro-Boisset, Esdaile, & Fitzcharles, 1996; Goldenberg, Burckhardt, & Crofford, 2004; Crofford & Appleton, 2001). These nonpharmacological adjuvants broadly include exercise and dietary modifications, physical therapy, chiropractic or massage therapy, meditation, biofeedback, acupuncture, and cognitive-behavioral therapy (Leventhal, 1999; Arnold, 2006; Prabhakar et al., 2019). Among these, exercise is associated with greatest reductions in fibromyalgia-related symptoms and improvements in daily functioning, overall well-being, and reported self-efficacy when used alongside medication regimens (Busch et al., 2007; Rooks, 2007). This huge variation in modalities used for clinical management of fibromyalgia points toward its complexity as a chronic pain disorder,

requiring a comprehensive and multidisciplinary approach. While further research is warranted on patient outcomes and treatment efficacy, this thesis focuses on the use of pregabalin pharmacotherapy to treat bilateral mechanical hyperalgesia associated with fibromyalgia.

1.2 Preclinical Models of Fibromyalgia in Rodents

To this point, discussion of fibromyalgia research has primarily focused on clinical findings from patients who have previously been diagnosed with the condition. While human studies can examine within- and between-group differences among fibromyalgia patients and healthy controls, measurements primarily consist of self-report, medical imaging, and quasi-experimental conditions. To investigate the underlying mechanisms of fibromyalgia from a physiological perspective, researchers have developed techniques which model symptomatology and chronic widespread pain in animals, most commonly in rodents (e.g., rats and mice). In these domains of preclinical research, animal models are frequently used to resolve the functional pathways and systems implicated in complex disease states, which are otherwise difficult or impractical to test experimentally in human subjects due to high expense, invasiveness, and risk. To circumvent these challenges in humans, researchers and medical scientists turn instead to preclinical studies which have quickly become tremendous assets in the advancement and refinement of the current theoretical neurobiology of fibromyalgia (DeSantana, da Cruz, & Sluka, 2013; Sluka & Clauw, 2016).

Animal models of fibromyalgia are relatively new and few in number, the earliest ones having been developed at the turn of the 21st century. Because the condition's etiology is still unknown, researchers aim to mimic its symptomatology and pathology instead,

13

finding greatest success in rodents. Notably, Sluka, Kalra, and Moore (2001) successfully replicated long-lasting, bilateral hyperalgesia (exaggerated sensitivity to painful stimuli) in rats and mice using repeated, intramuscular injections of acidic saline at a pH of 4.0. Importantly, this paradigm induces prolonged mechanical hyperalgesia (increased pressure sensitivity) *without* observable tissue damage or inflammation. According to the model, a total of two injections of acidic saline are delivered unilaterally to the gastrocnemius muscle over an ideal window of time, reported as 2 to 5 days between injections. After the second injection, rodents display increased bilateral sensitivity to mechanical stimulation of the hind paws and back leg muscles, measured by mechanical paw withdrawal thresholds, for up to 4 weeks (Radhakrishnan et al., 2004; Sluka et al., 2001).

Use of this procedure in both rats and mice accurately mimics the clinical presentation of fibromyalgia in humans with its characteristic widespread hyperalgesia, minimal muscle tissue damage, and wider alterations in central nociceptive processing (DeSantana, da Cruz, & Sluka, 2013). Importantly, acid-induced pain and hyperalgesia are also able to be reversed by analgesic strategies used commonly in clinical management of fibromyalgia (Nielsen, Mathiesen, & Blackburn-Munro, 2004), e.g., with administration of SNRI antidepressants (Kim et al., 2009), $\alpha_2\delta$ -ligands (Yokoyama et al., 2007; Saeki et al., 2019), and opioids (Sluka et al., 2002), as well as with exercise (Bement & Sluka, 2005; Sharma et al., 2010). For example, pregabalin treatment is shown to decrease both cutaneous and deep tissue hyperalgesia in acid-induced rat models (Yokoyama et al., 2007). The exact reason why or how Sluka et al.'s model (2001) induces fibromyalgia-like symptoms in rodents is unknown, but researchers propose physiological stress associated with multiple low-intensity insults to the muscle enacts molecular and cellular changes to

the nociceptors and in central neurons that result in sensitization and maintenance of pain (DeSantana, da Cruz, & Sluka, 2013; Sluka & Clauw, 2016).

Despite the model's high replicability and success in producing long-lasting hyperalgesia (Kim et al., 2009; Yokoyama et al., 2007; Sluka et al., 2002; Sharma et al., 2009), there is minimal evidence as to whether acidic saline injections are also able to induce affective comorbidities (e.g., depression or anxiety), though these symptoms have been documented in rodent models utilizing other pain induction techniques (Nagakura et al., 2009; Nishiyori & Ueda, 2008; Nasu et al., 2019; Khasar et al., 2009; Nazeri et al., 2018). Aside from this study, the only other research to examine affective symptomatology in association with acid-induced mechanical hyperalgesia was conducted by Liu et al. (2014), who found the model to be associated with anxiety-like and depression-like behaviors in 50% to 60% of rats after induction of experimental pain. To measure negative affect, the researchers used a battery of behavioral tests: open field, elevated plus maze, forced swimming, sucrose consumption, and sucrose preference. Rats in the chronic pain condition showed remarkable aversion to open areas in elevated plus maze and open field (anxiety-like behavior), longer immobility in forced swimming (despair mood), and lower sucrose preference and consumption (anhedonic response). From these findings, it was concluded that anxio-depressive behaviors did indeed co-occur with the acid-induced pain model described by Sluka et al. (2001).

1.2.1 Open Field Paradigm

Expanding upon Liu et al.'s novel findings (2014) using the acidic saline paradigm, the current study specifically utilizes the open field paradigm (OF) to measure anxiety-like behavior in rat model. To preface, it is notoriously difficult to model and measure affective

15

behaviors in animals, which are incapable of giving a verbal report or conscious assessment of their current emotional state. Instead, negative emotionality must ultimately be inferred based on measurable deviations from an animal's normal behavioral repertoire (Paul, Harding, & Mendl, 2005); as such, researchers deem aberrant behaviors as "anxiety-like" or "depression-like" in context, since they are interpreted as being representative, but not definitive, of anxiety or depression, respectively. To measure anxiety-like behavior in rodents, behavioral tests, such as open field and elevated plus maze, exploit the animal's natural aversion to exposed fields (Asano, 1986; Lister, 1987). According to the theory, when a rat or mouse is first introduced to an exposed yet inescapable area, the subsequent quality and quantity of its exploratory drive and locomotor activity may be measured as an indicator of fear or anxiety (Gould, Dao, & Kovacsics, 2009).

As a behavioral paradigm, the open field test subjects a rodent (e.g., rat or mouse) to an unknown environment consisting of a bare apparatus whose top is uncovered and where escape is prevented by enclosing walls (Gogas et al., 2007; Carter & Shieh, 2015). To avoid influencing the animal's natural behavior in the open field, passive computer tracking software uses infrared beams and video cameras to analyze the animal's movements over a set time, e.g., 5 minutes, and quantifies horizontal activity, time spent in various regions of the open field (e.g., near the walls versus in the center), and total distance traveled (Valvassori, Varela, & Quevedo, 2013). In addition, a researcher may separately record and assess other rodent behaviors, such as rearing (a form of exploratory behavior; Seibenhener & Wooten, 2015), as supplementary parameters for analysis (Gogas et al., 2007; Carter & Shieh, 2015).

Thus, when a rat or mouse is placed in a novel environment consisting of a bare chamber, the animal tends to show an initial behavioral preference to stay near the walls (*thigmotaxis*) while avoiding the center of the field. This is because, as prey animals, rodents are averse to being physically exposed in a new environment and, presumably, find the open center to be a stressful location. Normal animals typically acclimate to the chamber and eventually explore the center area over time (see Figure 1.2, left; Carter & Shieh, 2015), while more anxious animals spend significantly less time in the open area and more time closer to the walls (see Figure 1.2, right; Carter & Shieh, 2015). Importantly, treatment with *anxiolytic* (anxiety-reducing) drugs before administration of the open field test increases time spent in the center area and decreases the latency to enter the center area after being placed into the apparatus, further supporting the test's ability to accurately measure anxiety-like behaviors (Gogas et al., 2007).







Note: In the open field test, (a) normal exploratory behavior following acclimation versus (b) a rodent model of anxiety (Carter & Shieh, 2015).

Of the behavioral paradigms used to evaluate emotionality in animals, the open field paradigm is considered a gold standard to assess anxiety-like behavior in rats and mice. Along with the elevated plus maze, open field is consistently shown to be both reliable and sensitive (Hegmann & DeFries, 1968; Ivinskis, 1968; Carola et al., 2002; Ho, Eichendorff, & Schwarting, 2002; Seibenhener & Wooten, 2015), leading to its long-standing popularity as an assessment tool within affective pain literature. Despite this, rodent models of fibromyalgia using acidic saline induction generally lack inclusion of affective measurements, including that of open field, and therefore cannot examine whether animals see an increase in negative emotionality following experimental induction of chronic widespread pain (Liu et al., 2014). Further research in these domains is greatly warranted considering the strong bidirectional associations between fibromyalgia and its high comorbidities with negative emotional affect (Price, 1999; Rainville, Bao, & Chrétien, 2005).

1.3 Hypotheses

While the bodies of research regarding the neurobiological contribution to fibromyalgia pain have grown substantially through the use of preclinical rodent models, there still remains large gaps in our understanding of the affective comorbidities accompanying fibromyalgia, especially in Sluka et al.'s acidic saline model (2001). While one preliminary study has suggested anxio-depressive behaviors to accompany acid-induced pain in rats (Liu et al., 2014), there have been no further studies examining whether negative emotionality co-exists in this acidic saline model, such as that which is exhibited by human fibromyalgia patients.

Therefore, the present study sought to replicate the work done by Sluka et al. (2001) and Liu et al. (2014) by using the open field test to measure differences in anxiety-like behavior before and after pain induction with repeated acid injections. To further expand the scope of the acidic saline model, we also explored the efficacy of pregabalin as a post-induction anxiolytic treatment by analyzing a third trial of open field following administration of the drug. Thus, patterns of exploratory drive and locomotor activity in the open field test were compared and interpreted across three time points (baseline, post-induction, post-treatment) and across pain and treatment conditions (acidic saline/saline, acidic saline/pregabalin, saline/saline, saline/pregabalin).

For the first aim of this study, the acidic saline models were expected to exhibit greater anxiety-like behavior than controls after pain induction, which could be indicated by differences in total, central, or peripheral locomotion based on pain condition at post-induction. It was hypothesized that acidic saline models would exhibit greater anxiety-like behavior and hind paw sensitivity than controls after pain induction and would also travel less distance, travel at a slower velocity, and would rear less often than vehicle controls.

The second aim of this thesis was to evaluate pregabalin's efficacy as an anxiolytic treatment in the acidic saline model; specifically, animals treated with pregabalin were expected to exhibit decreased anxiety-like behavior, e.g., increased locomotion, and decreased hind paw sensitivity, e.g., increased rearing, after the drug treatment had been administered. It was hypothesized that while the acidic saline/saline condition would travel the least distance and at the slowest velocity of all four groups at post-treatment, the acidic saline/pregabalin condition would travel at a distance and velocity comparable to vehicle controls. Additionally, the acidic saline/pregabalin condition was expected to rear

comparably to controls during post-treatment testing, whereas the acidic saline/saline animals were expected to rear the least out of all the groups.

CHAPTER 2

METHODOLOGY

2.1 Subjects

Forty-eight female Sprague-Dawley rats (225-250 g; The University of Texas at Arlington vivarium) from Charles River (Hollister, CA) were used in this study. All animals were housed in pairs and maintained on a controlled 12-hour light-dark cycle with constant temperature and humidity. Water and food were provided *ad libitum* before and throughout the study. Animals were cared for in accordance with the ethical guidelines outlined by the International Association for the Study of Pain for the use of laboratory animals, and the experimental protocol was approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee at the University of Texas at Arlington (protocol number: A20.004). After being allowed to acclimate for one week from their transfer, animals were randomly assigned to a pain condition (4.0 pH acidic saline vs. 0.9% normal saline) and then to a treatment condition (pregabalin vs. 0.9% normal saline). The four groups used for analysis were as follows: acidic saline/normal saline, acidic saline/pregabalin, normal saline/normal saline/pregabalin.

2.2 Materials

2.2.1 Mechanical Paw Withdrawal Threshold

Prior to mechanical stimulation, animals were allowed to acclimate for 10 minutes in a Plexiglass chamber with mesh flooring, which allowed access to the plantar surface of the hind paws. Using the up-down method (Dixon, 1980), von Frey monofilaments (3.85, 5.68, 9.74, 18.39, 39.42, 77.3, 135.3, and 251.34 mN) were used to apply a one-second stimulus to each hind paw, sufficient to bend the filament. Trials were begun with the 9.74 mN filament and, if no withdrawal response was observed (i.e., paw withdrawal, raising, or licking), the next highest filament was administered. If withdrawal was observed, the next lowest filament was administered instead. The procedure was repeated until there was no response at the highest filament force (251.34 mN), or until five stimuli were administered in total, constituting a single trial.

The 50% paw withdrawal threshold for each trial was calculated using the following formula: [Xth]log = [vFr]log + ky, where [vFr] is the force of the last von Frey used, k = 0.2593 is the average interval (in log units) between the von Frey monofilaments, and y is a value that depends upon the pattern of withdrawal responses. If an animal did not respond to the highest von Frey monofilament (251.34 mN), then y = 1.00 and the 50% mechanical paw withdrawal response for that paw was calculated to be 456.63 mN.

The test was conducted using 3 separate trials per hind paw, and the scores from each trial were averaged to determine the mean withdrawal threshold for the left and right paw of the animal. A final combined mechanical threshold (CMT) score was then averaged from the right and left paw values for each MPWT test. Broadly, animals were assessed to be in pain if they withdrew their paw at lower filament forces compared to baseline measurements.

2.2.2 Open Field Test

Animals were placed in the center of an uncovered, circular chamber with a wooden base of 100 cm diameter and an aluminum sheet metal wall of 45 cm height. Once the animal was placed in the testing chamber, Ethovision applied video tracking software

immediately began recording the animal's free activity within the open field over a fiveminute interval, allowing the researcher to observe from a monitor located outside the testing room without interrupting or altering the animal's normal repertoire. This software also quantified the distance (cm) traveled by the animal, as well as its mean velocity (cm/s) of travel, in total and in the center of the field, specifically. In addition to these measures, the number of times an animal reared during each trial was manually assessed and counted by a researcher, where rearing was operationally defined as lifting of the front paws for any reason other than grooming. Thus, distance traveled, mean velocity of travel, and rearing behavior exhibited in the open field test could quantify locomotor activity (as an indicator of anxiety-like behavior), exploratory drive, and hind paw sensitivity.

2.2.3 Acidic Saline Model

In the study, experimental pain was induced according to the model by Sluka, Kalra, and Moore (2001), which employs a 2-injection paradigm, administered five days apart, that induces a bilateral hyperalgesia. Prior to injections, all animals were anesthetized using isoflurane gas (3% induction, 2% maintenance). Experimental animals were injected with 1 microgram of acidic saline (pH 4.0) in the left gastrocnemius muscle following baseline tests and then again five days later to allow habituation. Animals treated with the vehicle control received an injection of 0.9% normal saline to the left gastrocnemius muscle during the same time schedule. Per the Sluka et al. model (2001), a manipulation check (consisting only of MWPT measurements) was performed before administration of the second injection to ensure long-lasting bilateral hyperalgesia was properly induced.

To make acidic saline, 0.01 N sterile hydrochloric acid (HCl) was added dropwise to 0.9% sterile saline until pH meter read 4.0 ± 0.1 . Adjustments were made by adding 0.01 N sterile sodium hydroxide (NaOH) dropwise until proper pH was achieved. Acidic saline was prepared on the day of injection to ensure consistent pH throughout the study. The vehicle control for repeated injections of acidic saline was 0.9% normal saline at physiological pH (pH 5.5 to 7.4), delivered during the same five-day schedule.

2.2.4 Pregabalin Treatment

After completion of post-induction open field tests, animals in both pain conditions were randomized to receive an intraperitoneal (i.p.) injection of pregabalin or a vehicle control (0.9% normal saline). Since pregabalin is sold as a solid, the drug was suspended in sterile injection water for delivery and administered based on weight. Thus, all animals were weighed prior to injections to ensure a dosage of 30 mg/kg. After injection, animals were allowed to habituate for an hour, followed by a third and final test day.

2.3 Procedure

This thesis was written as part of a larger preclinical model examining noninflammatory musculoskeletal pain associated with fibromyalgia, which was conducted between February 2020 and September 2020. Injections and testing took place over a six-day period, in which the open field data collected at three time points (baseline, post-induction, post-treatment) were used for analysis (Figure 2.1).



Figure 2.1: Injection and testing timeline over a six-day period.

Prior to experimental manipulation, baseline MWPTs and open fields were collected on the first day of the study, followed by a first injection with acidic saline (or 0.9% normal saline) to promote gradual induction of experimental pain. Injection protocols were performed according to the model originally described by Sluka et al. (2001), where experimental animals receive two unilateral injections of pH 4.0 saline to the left gastrocnemius muscle over a five-day period. Based on the model, bilateral mechanical hyperalgesia should not be induced until after administration of a second acidic saline injection, which is scheduled on the fifth day following the first injection; thus, on day 5, MWPT measurements were repeated for each animal prior to administering the second injection and were compared to baseline measurements. Any animals shown to exhibit mechanical hypersensitivity during this manipulation check, e.g., a CMT score significantly lower from baseline, were to be excluded from further manipulation. However, no animal's CMT scores significantly differed between these two time points and, therefore, all animals were carried forward to receive a second injection.

Once it was verified that no animals were exhibiting mechanical hypersensitivity after the manipulation check on day 5, experimental animals received a second injection of acidic saline, again to the left gastrocnemius muscle, on the same day. Control animals were subjected to identical hypersensitivity testing and injection procedures over the same five-day time frame but were injected with the 0.9% normal saline vehicle control instead. Following the second injection, both groups were allowed to habituate for 24 hours postinduction before a second round of MWPTs and open field tests were collected on day 6. In addition to these tests, place escape/avoidance paradigm (PEAP) measurements were collected as part of the larger study but were not included in this thesis. Thus, on day 6, the sequence of testing at post-induction was (1) MWPT, (2) PEAP, and (3) open field.

Immediately following the second round of testing on day 6, animals in both pain conditions were randomly assigned to receive a treatment injection of pregabalin or 0.9% normal saline on the same day, after which the animals were given one hour to habituate. Following this rest period, animals were subjected to a third and final round of posttreatment tests in the following order: (1) MWPT, (2) PEAP, and (3) open field. Once measurements were complete, animals were humanely euthanized using CO₂ gas and a secondary measure of euthanasia (i.e., bilateral thoracotomy or decapitation) as required by the veterinarian.

2.4 Analyses Plan

While MWPT and PEAP were collected as part of a larger study, these measurements were not assessed in this thesis, which specifically analyzed data collected from open field over three time points (Figure 2.1). Descriptions of these other measures were included to give a thorough timeline of all manipulations performed during the study.

Thus, for this thesis, temporal changes in open field activity and behavior in all groups were analyzed using a 3 (time: pre-induction, post-induction, post-treatment) x 4 (condition: acidic saline/saline, acidic saline/pregabalin, saline/saline, saline/pregabalin) mixed model Analysis of Variance (ANOVA), followed by post-hoc comparisons (Fisher's least-significant difference and simple effects) if appropriate. Mixed model ANOVAs were run for the following open field measures: distance traveled (total, center, and outside), mean velocity of travel (total, center, and outside), and total rears exhibited during each 5-minute testing interval.
Using the total and center field components automatically defined by the Ethovision software, an outside dimension was manually calculated after data collection had concluded. The distance traveled in the outer component was calculated as the difference between total and center distance, *Outside distance = Total distance – Center distance*. The mean velocity of outside travel was calculated by averaging the velocities measured in each quadrant, *Outside velocity = (S1 velocity + S2 velocity + S3 velocity + S4 velocity)*/4.





Note: (a) The circular open field split into a center and four quadrants (S1, S2, S3, S4). (b) An outside perimeter can be defined using total, center, and quadrant calculations.

CHAPTER 3

RESULTS

3.1 Analysis of Total Distance

A 3 (time: baseline, post-induction, post-treatment) x 4 (condition: acidic saline/saline, acidic saline/pregabalin, saline/saline, saline/pregabalin) mixed model Analysis of Variance (ANOVA; Figures 3.1 and 3.2) failed to reveal a significant main effect of condition, F(3, 44) = .67, p = .573, $\eta^2_p = .04$, or time, F(2, 88) = 2.17, p = .121, $\eta^2_p = .05$, on the total distance that animals traveled. However, there was a significant interaction of condition and time, F(6, 88) = 4.21, p = .001, $\eta^2_p = .22$.

Analysis of simple effects of condition on time (Figure 3.1) revealed that animals traveled differently depending on their condition. Animals in the acidic saline/saline condition traveled significantly more at baseline (M = 3635.98, SD = 136.02) than at post-induction (M = 3215.01, SD = 182.25), whereas animals in the saline/saline condition traveled significantly more at baseline (M = 3398.50, SD = 136.02) than at post-treatment (M = 2904.74, SD = 252.90). Finally, animals in the saline/pregabalin condition traveled significantly more at post-treatment (M = 3885.87, SD = 252.90) than at post-induction (M = 3120.09, SD = 182.25).

Further analysis of simple effects of time on condition (Figure 3.2) revealed a significant effect pregabalin on the total distance traveled in the open field. At post-treatment specifically, the acidic saline/pregabalin condition (M = 3663.12, SD = 252.90) and the saline/pregabalin condition (M = 3885.87, SD = 252.90) each traveled significantly

more than the saline/saline condition (M = 2904.74, SD = 252.90).



Figure 3.1: Estimated marginal means of total distance between condition and time.

Figure 3.2: Estimated marginal means of total distance between conditions at post-treatment.



■ Acidic Saline/Saline ■ Acidic Saline/Pregabalin ■ Saline/Saline ■ Saline/Pregabalin

3.2 Analysis of Total Mean Velocity

A 3 (time: baseline, post-induction, post-treatment) x 4 (condition: acidic saline/saline, acidic saline/pregabalin, saline/saline, saline/pregabalin) mixed model ANOVA (Figures 3.3 and 3.4) did not reveal a significant main effect of condition on

average velocity of travel, F(3, 44) = 1.22, p = .313, $\eta^2_p = .08$. However, the main effect of time was significant, F(2, 88) = 3.75, p = .027, $\eta^2_p = .08$; Fisher's least significant difference post hoc revealed that, on average, animals traveled significantly slower at post-induction (M = 11.01, SD = .31) compared to baseline (M = 11.60, SD = .23) and post-treatment (M = 11.93, SD = .40) measurements. A significant interaction between condition and time was also found, F(6, 88) = 5.15, p < .001, $\eta^2_p = .26$.

Analysis of simple effects of condition on time (Figure 3.3) revealed that, on average, animals in the acidic saline/saline condition traveled faster at baseline (M = 12.04, SD = .46) than at post-induction (M = 10.92, SD = .62). On the other hand, saline/saline animals faster at baseline (M = 11.50, SD = .46) than at post-treatment (M = 9.85, SD = .79). Interestingly, both pregabalin condition showed similar trends of velocity over time; that is, the acidic saline/pregabalin animals and the saline/pregabalin animals each traveled fastest at post-treatment (Ms = 13.52, 13.23, SDs = .79, .79) than compared to baseline (Ms = 11.28, 11.57, SDs = .46, .46) or post-induction (Ms = 11.44, 10.63, SDs = .62, .62).

Further analysis of simple effects of time on condition (Figure 3.4) also revealed pregabalin had a significant effect on travel velocity. After treatment, the acidic saline/pregabalin condition (M = 13.52, SD = .79) and the saline/pregabalin condition (M = 13.23, SD = .79) each traveled significantly faster than the saline/saline condition (M = 9.85, SD = .79). Within the acidic saline model, animals in the acidic saline/pregabalin traveled significantly faster at post-treatment (M = 13.52, SD = .79) than the acidic saline/saline animals (M = 11.11, SD = .79).



Figure 3.3: Estimated marginal means of total mean velocity between condition and time.

Figure 3.4: Estimated marginal means of total mean velocity between conditions at post-treatment.



3.3 Analysis of Total Rears

A 3 (time: baseline, post-induction, post-treatment) x 4 (condition: acidic saline/saline, acidic saline/pregabalin, saline/saline, saline/pregabalin) mixed model ANOVA (Figure 3.5) did not reveal a significant main effect of condition on rears, F(3, 44) = .22, p = .883, $\eta^2_p = .02$, but did find a significant main effect of time, F(2, 88) = 13.23, p < .001, $\eta_p^2 = .23$. Fisher's least significant difference post hoc revealed that animals reared most at baseline (M = 16.52, SD = .83) than during tests repeated at postinduction (M = 11.96, SD = .80) and post-treatment (M = 13.15, SD = .88). However, the interaction between condition and time was not significant for rears, F(6, 88) = 1.62, p = .152, $\eta_p^2 = .10$.

However, some simple effect comparisons were significant (Figure 3.5) despite the overall interaction effect not reaching significance. Specifically, animals in the acidic saline/saline condition and the saline/saline condition reared most at baseline (Ms = 17.17, 18.25, SDs = 1.66, 1.66), with rears in each group decreasing at post-induction (Ms = 12.08, 12.67, SDs = 1.61, 1.61) and at post-treatment (Ms = 13.08, 11.83, SDs = 1.75, 1.75). On the other hand, animals in the acidic saline/pregabalin condition reared most at baseline (M = 16.33, SD = 1.66) and at post-treatment (M = 15.58, SD = 1.75), and reared least at post-induction (M = 10.58, SD = 1.61).



Figure 3.5: Estimated marginal means of total rears between condition and time.

3.4 Analysis of Center Distance

A 3 (time: baseline, post-induction, post-treatment) x 4 (condition: acidic saline/saline, acidic saline/pregabalin, saline/saline, saline/pregabalin) mixed model ANOVA (Figures 3.6 and 3.7) did not reveal a significant main effect of condition on the distance animals traveled in the field's center, $F(3, 41) = .67, p = .573, \eta^2_p = .05$. However, a significant main effect of time was found, $F(2, 82) = 14.53, p < .001, \eta^2_p = .26$; Fisher's least significant difference post hoc revealed that animals traveled least in the center at post-induction (M = 197.04, SD = 27.29) than at baseline (M = 303.04, SD = 21.42) or at post-treatment (M = 363.54, SD = 36.24). There was also a significant interaction between condition and time for this measure, $F(6, 82) = 4.34, p = .001, \eta^2_p = .24$.

Analysis of simple effects of condition on time (Figure 3.6) revealed that animals in the acidic saline/saline condition traveled more in the center at baseline (M = 325.91, SD = 45.30) than at post-induction (M = 184.57, SD = 57.72). Animals in the acidic saline/pregabalin condition traveled most in the center at post-treatment (M = 512.71, SD= 73.10) compared to baseline (M = 291.96, SD = 43.20) or post-induction (M = 213.64, SD = 55.03). Finally, the extent to which the saline/pregabalin animals traveled in the field's center differed across all three time points; hierarchically, these animals traveled most in the center at post-treatment (M = 448.40, SD = 69.98), followed by baseline (M =278.88, SD = 41.36), and post-induction (M = 147.41, SD = 52.69).

Further analysis of simple effects of time on condition (Figure 3.7) also revealed pregabalin treatment significantly affected how much animals traveled in the center area. After treatment, the acidic saline/pregabalin condition (M = 512.71, SD = 73.10) and the saline/pregabalin condition (M = 448.40, SD = 69.98) each traveled significantly more in

the center than saline/saline condition (M = 241.66, SD = 69.98). Within the acidic saline model, the acidic saline/pregabalin animals (M = 512.71, SD = 73.10) traveled significantly more in the center at post-treatment than the acidic saline/saline animals (M = 251.41, SD = 76.66).



Figure 3.6: Estimated marginal means of center distance between condition and time.





■Acidic Saline/Saline ■Acidic Saline/Pregabalin ■Saline/Saline ■Saline/Pregabalin

3.5 Analysis of Center Mean Velocity

A 3 (time: baseline, post-induction, post-treatment) x 4 (condition: acidic saline/saline, acidic saline/pregabalin, saline/saline, saline/pregabalin) mixed model ANOVA (Figure 3.8) did not find significant main effects of condition, F(3, 41) = .77, p =.516, $\eta_p^2 = .05$, or time, F(2, 82) = .73, p = .486, $\eta_p^2 = .02$, on the velocity at which animals traveled in the center of the open field, nor was there a significant interaction effect between condition and time for this variable, F(6, 82) = .65, p = .689, $\eta^2_p = .05$.



■ Acidic Saline/Saline ■ Acidic Saline/Pregabalin ■ Saline/Saline ■ Saline/Pregabalin

3.6 Analysis of Outside Distance

A 3 (time: baseline, post-induction, post-treatment) x 4 (condition: acidic saline/saline, acidic saline/pregabalin, saline/saline, saline/pregabalin) mixed model ANOVA (Figures 3.9 and 3.10) did not reveal a main effect of condition, F(3, 41) = 1.10, $p = .359, \eta^2_p = .08$, or time, $F(2, 82) = .38, p = .687, \eta^2_p = .01$, on the distance animals traveled in the field's outer perimeter, F(3, 44) = .93, p = .435, $\eta^2_p = .06$. However, the interaction between condition and time was significant, F(6, 82) = 3.53, p = .004, $\eta^2_p = .21$. Analysis of simple effects of condition on time (Figure 3.9) revealed that the saline/pregabalin animals traveled more in the perimeter at post-treatment (M = 3437.47, SD = 190.81) than at post-induction (M = 2972.68, SD = 171.74). On the other hand, animals in the saline/saline condition traveled more in the perimeter at baseline (M = 3083.10, SD = 135.16) and at post-induction (M = 3029.00, SD = 171.74), and traveled least in this area at post-treatment (M = 2663.08, SD = 190.81).

Further analysis of simple effects of time on condition (Figure 3.10) revealed pregabalin treatment had a significant effect on how much animals traveled in the outer perimeter of the field. After administration of treatment, the acidic saline/pregabalin condition (M = 3396.74, SD = 199.30) and the saline/pregabalin condition (M = 3437.47, SD = 190.81) each traveled significantly more in this outer area compared to the saline/saline condition (M = 2663.08, SD = 190.81).



Figure 3.9: Estimated marginal means of outside distance between condition and time.



Figure 3.10: Estimated marginal means of outside distance between conditions at post-treatment.

3.7 Analysis of Outside Mean Velocity

A 3 (time: baseline, post-induction, post-treatment) x 4 (condition: acidic saline/saline, acidic saline/pregabalin, saline/saline, saline/pregabalin) mixed model ANOVA (Figures 3.11 and 3.12) did not reveal a significant main effect of condition on how fast animals traveled in the outside perimeter of the field, F(3, 44) = .83, p = .483, $\eta^2_p = .05$. However, a main effect of time was significant, F(2, 88) = 4.54, p = .013, $\eta^2_p = .09$; Fisher's least significant difference post hoc revealed that, on average, animals traveled faster in the perimeter during post-treatment testing (M = 12.58, SD = .38) than during post-induction testing (M = 11.66, SD = .30). The interaction effect between condition and time was also significant, F(6, 88) = 4.70, p < .001, $\eta^2_p = .24$.

Analysis of simple effects of condition on time (Figure 3.11) revealed that the acidic saline/pregabalin condition and the saline/pregabalin condition each traveled fastest in the perimeter at post-treatment (Ms = 13.91, 13.76, SDs = .76, .76) than at baseline (Ms = 11.55, 11.88, SDs = .48, .48) or at post-induction (Ms = 12.01, 11.19, SDs = .60, .60).

Additionally, analysis of simple effects of time on condition (Figure 3.12) revealed pregabalin treatment significantly affected how fast animals traveled on average in the outer perimeter of the field. At post-treatment, the acidic saline/pregabalin condition (M =13.91, SD = .76) and the saline/pregabalin condition (M = 13.76, SD = .76) traveled significantly faster in the perimeter than the saline/saline condition (M = 10.81, SD = .76).



Figure 3.11: Estimated marginal means of outside mean velocity between condition and time.

■ Acidic Saline/Saline ■ Acidic Saline/Pregabalin ■ Saline/Saline ■ Saline/Pregabalin

Figure 3.12: Estimated marginal means of outside mean velocity between conditions at post-treatment.



CHAPTER 4

DISCUSSION

Within the last half century, rapid breakthroughs in fibromyalgia research have led to a more nuanced understanding of this disorder and chronic widespread pain as a whole. However, despite significant progress, there are still many components of fibromyalgia that are much less understood, particularly regarding its complex affective comorbidities. Given the difficulty of parsing out this relationship in clinical patient samples, recently developed preclinical animal models might offer new utility to study the co-occurrence of affective behavior in more stringent and controlled systems. Notably, the acidic saline model developed by Sluka et al. (2001) has been consistently validated as inducing a longlasting bilateral mechanical hyperalgesia in rodents, similar to the presentation of chronic widespread pain in fibromyalgia patients. However, there is limited research examining whether this model also produces anxiety as a comorbidity alongside acid-induced hyperalgesia. Successful co-induction of anxiety-like behavior in the acidic saline model would increase its validity as being analogous to the nuanced presentation of fibromyalgia syndrome in humans, increasing the model's utility and desirability for future preclinical research.

Thus, the present study replicated Sluka et al.'s acidic saline model (2001) in a group of rats using repeated, intramuscular injections of saline at pH 4.0. The model was also extended to assess pregabalin's efficacy as a post-induction, anxiolytic treatment. To do so, animals were randomly assigned to a pain condition (4.0 pH acidic saline vs. 0.9%

normal saline) and then to a treatment condition (pregabalin vs. 0.9% normal saline), resulting in four final groups: acidic saline/saline, acidic saline/pregabalin, saline/saline, and saline/pregabalin. To measure anxiety as a dimension of negative affect in rats, the open field test was used to measure distance traveled, mean velocity of travel, and total number of rears, which were then statistically compared across the four conditions and across three different time points (baseline, post-induction, post-treatment). Significant between-group differences in locomotion or exploration could then be used to interpret anxiety-like behavior, hind paw sensitivity, and exploratory drive in our sample.

While analysis of mechanical paw withdrawal thresholds was outside the scope of this thesis, a brief summary of the findings was included to guide interpretation of open field data. Based on post-induction and post-treatment assessments, significant differences were found between conditions, which were consistent with the acidic saline model and with pregabalin's efficacy as an analgesic. Specifically, at post-induction, the mechanical thresholds of the acidic saline groups were significantly reduced compared to vehicle controls, indicating bilateral mechanical hyperalgesia had been successfully induced according to Sluka et al. (2001). As expected, at post-treatment, the acidic saline/saline condition exhibited lowest paw withdrawal thresholds relative to the other groups, whereas the acidic saline/pregabalin condition showed thresholds similar to that of controls. Thus, pregabalin treatment is believed to have significantly decreased the mechanical hyperalgesia induced by repeated acid injections. As a whole, findings from mechanical thresholds indicate induction and treatment of experimental pain was successful and in line with expectations.

4.1 Does the Acidic Saline Model Increase Anxiety-Like Behavior?

In the present study, the acidic saline models were expected to exhibit greater anxiety-like behavior than controls after pain induction, which could be indicated by differences in total, central, or peripheral locomotion based on pain condition at postinduction. Specifically, we hypothesized that animals in the acidic saline conditions would travel less distance and at a slower velocity at post-induction than vehicle controls. However, the main effects of condition on distance and mean velocity of travel were not significant regardless of the area of the chamber measured and, more importantly, were not significantly different across pain conditions at time 2. Additionally, while two main effects of time were found for center distance and total mean velocity, these effects represented global changes in locomotion rather than differences based on pain condition. Based on these findings, it cannot be said that the acidic saline model altered open field locomotion in a manner significant enough to indicate a corresponding increase in anxietylike behavior.

In addition, rearing was assessed as a third behavioral measure during open field testing, where post-induction differences in rearing between pain conditions could indicate differences in hind paw sensitivity or changes in exploratory drive. It was hypothesized that the acidic saline conditions would rear less than vehicle controls after pain induction. However, comparison of total rears across time and condition did not reveal any significant differences across pain conditions, and, furthermore, there was no effect of pain condition on rearing behavior exhibited post-induction. This may imply that exploratory behavior is unaffected by the acidic saline model, as rearing did not change regardless of whether the model was present or not. A global main effect of time was also significant, such that animals reared more often at baseline than after pain induction or after treatment. However, this finding was generally expected because initial exposure to novel paradigms usually elicits an increase in exploratory drive.

In general, these findings were in contrast to those reported by Liu and colleagues (2014), the only other study to evaluate negative affect in conjunction with the acidic saline paradigm (2001). In addition to open field, Liu et al. (2014) utilized four other behavioral tests (elevated plus maze, sucrose consumption, sucrose preference, and forced swimming) to measure anxio-depressive comorbidity in rats repeatedly injected with acid. In the open field test specifically, animals in the acidic saline condition traveled significantly shorter durations in the center than did the vehicle controls. However, the present study failed to find a similar effect of pain condition on differences in locomotor behavior or exploratory behavior measured by the open field test, and, ultimately, anxiety-like behavior in the acidic saline condition did not surpass that of saline controls. Based on these results, Sluka et al.'s acidic saline model (2001) did not induce strong enough changes in anxiety-like behavior measured by the open field test in this study.

4.2 Is Pregabalin Effective as Anxiolytic Treatment?

The second aim of this thesis was to evaluate pregabalin's efficacy as an anxiolytic treatment in the acidic saline model, which could be indicated by condition-based differences during post-treatment testing; specifically, animals treated with pregabalin were expected to exhibit decreased anxiety-like behavior, e.g., increased locomotion, and decreased hind paw sensitivity, e.g., increased rearing, after the drug treatment had been administered. It was hypothesized that while the acidic saline/saline condition would travel the least distance and at the slowest velocity of all four groups at post-treatment, the acidic

saline/pregabalin condition would travel at a distance and velocity comparable to vehicle controls. Additionally, the acidic saline/pregabalin condition was expected to rear comparably to controls during post-treatment testing, whereas the acidic saline/saline animals were expected to rear the least out of all the groups.

Further analysis of simple effects for distance and velocity measured at posttreatment indicated that pregabalin significantly increased locomotion in the open field but had no effect on exploratory rearing. Overall, animals who received pregabalin not only traveled at a faster overall velocity but also traveled more distance in the field's center and in total after administration of the drug treatment compared to controls, regardless of whether the acidic saline model was present or not. Within in the acidic saline model specifically, animals that received pregabalin traveled significantly farther in the center and faster overall than those that did not. While increases in locomotion were only seen after pregabalin was administered, it cannot be determined whether this global trend represents an anxiolytic effect as the acidic saline model did not induce strong enough changes in anxiety-like behavior to be measured by post-induction open field testing.

These findings are somewhat in contrast to previous research that found pregabalin to have both locomotor-reducing and ataxic (coordination-reducing) effects in rats (Vartanian et al., 2006). This may be due to pregabalin's anticonvulsant features (French et al., 2003; Miller et al., 2003; Arroyo et al., 2004), for which it was originally marketed as a treatment for epilepsy before becoming approved to treat fibromyalgia due to its unanticipated analgesic and anxiolytic effects in patients (Boomershine, 2010; Ben-Menachem, 2004; Zimcikova et al., 2017). Vartanian and colleagues (2006) found that high dosages of pregabalin between 30-300 mg/kg produced ataxic symptoms in rats and also reduced spontaneous locomotion (measured by travel distance). However, in the present study, pregabalin was not found to inhibit animal activity when administered at 30 mg/kg, the same dosage as that which obtunded rat activity in Vartanian et al. (2006). Instead, this dosage of pregabalin was found to increase both distance and velocity of locomotion measured in open field after administration of the drug treatment, regardless of the presence of the acidic saline model. However, because anxiety-like behavior did not significantly differ across conditions when measured at post-induction, we cannot say whether this subsequent increase in locomotion after pregabalin treatment represents the drug having an anxiolytic effect on behavior.

4.3 Limitations and Future Directions

Due to the limited scope of preclinical research surrounding affective comorbidity in preclinical models of fibromyalgia, it was especially important to determine whether the acidic saline model developed by Sluka et al. (2001) could also replicate anxious comorbidity in rats, and, subsequently, whether pregabalin treatment might induce an opposing anxiolytic effect. While Liu et al. (2014) found acid-induced pain to exacerbate anxio-depressive behaviors in rats, we did not find a similar effect of the model when assessing anxiety-like behavior in the open field test, as there was no condition-based difference between locomotion or exploration measured after pain induction. Broadly, pregabalin was found to increase locomotor behavior measured after administration of the drug treatment, though this effect was global and did not differ regardless of whether the acidic saline model was present or not.

Due to the design of the study, it is possible that repeated exposure to the open field paradigm across multiple time points may have resulted in a test-retest effect as animals exhibited a decline in exploratory behavior over the study period. According to the theory, the novelty of the open field is central to the test's ability to accurately measure anxietylike behavior in rats (Gould, Dao, & Kovacsics, 2009); however, the use of repeated measurements of open field is possible to have diminished its novelty over each subsequent test, which could very well change how the animals behave within the paradigm over time. If this were the case, the presence of any anxious comorbidity induced by the acidic saline model would be unlikely to be picked up by repeated testing of the open field paradigm.

Furthermore, because pregabalin was administered at a dosage of 30 mg/kg, animals were specifically selected to ensure a consistent weight range between 225-250 g. If there were considerable differences within the sample that were unrelated to weight, there could be a conceivable effect of these outside variables on our measurements. For example, it is possible that age could influence differences in locomotor and exploratory behavior if the sample contained animals of significantly varying ages. However, while we were aware of this potential confound, the test-retest effect was suspected to be primarily responsible for the variance seen in open field locomotion and exploration.

Overall, further investigation of affective dimensions within Sluka et al.'s model is greatly warranted based on conflicting findings between Liu et al. (2014) and the current study. At this point, we cannot determine what is contributing to the aspect of anxiety seen in acidic saline model, and, thus, future studies ought to assess whether other behavioral paradigms, such as the elevated plus maze, are more effective than the open field test at teasing apart this component. Additional replications of the acidic saline model should also examine whether the effects of acid-induced pain extend beyond sensory and affective components. Importantly, fibromyalgia also shows significant comorbidity with excessive fatigue and memory impairment in human patients, however, no study has assessed whether cognition-based impairment exists in the acidic saline model. Various behavioral paradigms could be used to assess cognition in a rodent sample, such as the rat gambling task, Morris water task, or radial arm maze, among others.

Ultimately, preclinical models have been indispensable in expanding our understanding of fibromyalgia and chronic widespread pain, as these techniques allow researchers to more carefully isolate and scrutinize the condition's complex components in animals. Sluka et al.'s acidic saline model, in particular, shows great utility as a validated method with which to study fibromyalgia in rodents, calling for a more comprehensive assessment of its potential comorbidities.

CHAPTER 5

CONCLUSION

The present study utilized the open field paradigm to test the following two objectives: firstly, we examined whether Sluka et al.'s (2001) acidic saline model of fibromyalgia induces anxious comorbidity in rats; secondly, we evaluated whether pregabalin is efficacious as a subsequent anxiolytic treatment. Thus, the acidic saline model was hypothesized to exhibit greater anxiety-like behavior and hind paw sensitivity than controls after pain induction and were expected to travel less distance, travel at a slower velocity, and to rear less often than vehicle controls. It was also hypothesized that pregabalin treatment would decrease anxiety-like behavior and hind paw sensitivity indicated as an increase in locomotion and rearing during subsequent open field tests.

Overall, results revealed that (1) there was no significant difference for the distance or mean velocity traveled across pain conditions after pain induction, regardless of the area of the chamber measured, (2) on average, animals reared more at baseline, though, again, there was no significant difference between conditions, and (3) pregabalin produced a global increase in locomotor behavior, though this effect did not differ regardless of whether the acidic saline model was present or not. Based on these findings, further investigation of affective dimensions within Sluka et al.'s model is greatly warranted, wherein future replications of the acidic saline model should examine whether the effects of acid-induced pain extend beyond sensory and affective components.

REFERENCES

- Aaron, L. A., & Buchwald, D. (2003). Chronic diffuse musculoskeletal pain,
 fibromyalgia and co-morbid unexplained clinical conditions. *Best Practice & Research Clinical Rheumatology*, *17*(4), 563-574. https://doi.org/10.1016/s15216942(03)00033-0
- Al-Allaf, A. W. (2007). Work disability and health system utilization in patients with fibromyalgia syndrome. *Journal of Clinical Rheumatology*, *13*(4), 199-201. https://doi.org/10.1097/rhu.0b013e31812e6b0c
- Arnold, L. M. (2006). Biology and therapy of fibromyalgia: New therapies in fibromyalgia. *Arthritis Research & Therapy*, 8(212). https://doi.org/10.1186/ar1971
- Arnold, L. M. (2008). Management of fibromyalgia and comorbid psychiatric disorders. *The Journal of Clinical Psychiatry*, 69, 14-19.
- Arnold, L. M., Choy, E., Clauw, D. J., Oka, H., Whalen, E., Semel, D., Pauer, L., & Knapp, L. (2018). An evidence-based review of pregabalin for the treatment of fibromyalgia. *Current Medical Research and Opinion*, 34(8), 1397-1409. https://doi.org/10.1080/03007995.2018.1450743
- Arnold, L. M., Fan, J., Russell, I. J., Yunus, M. B., Khan, M. A., Kushner, I., Olson, J. M., & Iyengar, S. K. (2013). The fibromyalgia family study: A genome-wide linkage scan study. *Arthritis & Rheumatism*, 65(4), 1122-1128. https://doi.org/10.1002/art.37842

- Arnold, L. M., Hudson, J. I., Keck, P. E., Auchenbach, M. B., Javaras, K. N., & Hess,
 E. V. (2006). Comorbidity of fibromyalgia and psychiatric disorders. *The Journal of Clinical Psychiatry*, 67(8), 1219-1225. https://doi.org/10.4088/jcp.v67n0807
- Arnold, L. M., Russell, I. J., Diri, E., Duan, W. R., Young, J. P., Sharma, U., Martin,
 S. A., Barrett, J. A., & Haig, G. (2008). A 14-week, randomized, double-blinded,
 placebo-controlled monotherapy trial of pregabalin in patients with fibromyalgia. *The Journal of Pain*, 9(9), 792-805. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpain.2008.03.013
- Arout, C. A., Sofuoglu, M., Bastian, L. A., & Rosenheck, R. A. (2018). Gender differences in the prevalence of fibromyalgia and in concomitant medical and psychiatric disorders: A National Veterans Health Administration Study. *Journal of Women's Health*, 27(8), 1035-1044. https://doi.org/10.1089/jwh.2017.6622
- Arroyo, S., Anhut, H., Kugler, A. R., Lee, C. M., Knapp, L. E., Garofalo, E. A., Messmer, S., & International Study Group. (2004). Pregabalin add-on treatment: A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, dose-response study in adults with partial seizures. *Epilepsia*, 45(1), 20-27. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0013-9580.2004.31203.x
- Asano, Y. (1986). Characteristics of open field behavior of Wistar and Sprague-Dawley rats. *Experimental Animals*, *35*(4), 505-508.
 https://doi.org/10.1538/expanim1978.35.4 505
- Bandura, A. (2010). Self-efficacy. In I. B. Weiner & W. E. Craighead (Eds.), *The Corsini* encyclopedia of psychology. John Wiley & Sons.

- Barsante Santos, A. M., Burti, J. S., Lopes, J. B., Scazufca, M., Pasqual Marques, A., & Pereira, R. M. (2010). Prevalence of fibromyalgia and chronic widespread pain in community-dwelling elderly subjects living in São Paulo, Brazil. *Maturitas*, 67(3), 251-255. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.maturitas.2010.07.006
- Bellato, E., Marini, E., Castoldi, F., Barbasetti, N., Mattei, L., Bonasia, D. E., & Blonna,
 D. (2012). Fibromyalgia syndrome: Etiology, pathogenesis, diagnosis, and treatment. *Pain Research and Treatment*, 2012, 1-17. https://doi.org/10.1155/2012/426130
- Bement, M. K., & Sluka, K. A. (2005). Low-intensity exercise reverses chronic muscle pain in the rat in a naloxone-dependent manner. *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation*, 86(9), 1736-1740. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apmr.2005.03.029
- Bengtsson, A., Henriksson, K., & Larsson, J. (1986). Muscle biopsy in primary fibromyalgia: Light-microscopical and histochemical findings. *Scandinavian Journal* of Rheumatology, 15(1), 1-6. https://doi.org/10.3109/03009748609092661
- Ben-Menachem, E. (2004). Pregabalin pharmacology and its relevance to clinical practice. *Epilepsia*, 45(s6), 13-18. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0013-9580.2004.455003.x
- Bennett, R. M., Jones, J., Turk, D. C., Russell, I. J., & Matallana, L. (2007). An internet survey of 2,596 people with fibromyalgia. *BMC Musculoskeletal Disorders*, 8(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2474-8-27
- Berger, A., Dukes, E., Martin, S., Edelsberg, J., & Oster, G. (2007). Characteristics and healthcare costs of patients with fibromyalgia syndrome. *International Journal of Clinical Practice*, *61*(9), 1498-1508. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1742-1241.2007.01480.x

- Bigatti, S. M., & Cronan, T. A. (2002). An examination of the physical health, health care use, and psychological well-being of spouses of people with fibromyalgia syndrome. *Health Psychology*, 21(2), 157-166. https://doi.org/10.1037/0278-6133.21.2.157
- Boomershine, C. (2010). Pregabalin for the management of fibromyalgia syndrome. Journal of Pain Research, 81. https://doi.org/10.2147/jpr.s7884
- Bradley, L. A. (2005). Psychiatric comorbidity in fibromyalgia. *Current Pain and Headache Reports*, 9(2), 79-86. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11916-005-0042-3
- Buckelew, S. P., Huyser, B., Hewett, J. E., Johnson, J. C., Conway, R., Parker, J. C., & Kay, D. R. (1996). Self-efficacy predicting outcome among fibromyalgia subjects.
 Arthritis Care & Research, 9(2), 97-104. https://doi.org/10.1002/1529-0131(199604)9:2<97::aid-anr1790090205>3.0.co;2-f
- Busch, A. J., Barber, K. A., Overend, T. J., Peloso, P. M., & Schachter, C. L. (2007). Exercise for treating fibromyalgia syndrome. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*. https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.cd003786.pub2
- Buskila, D. (2009). Developments in the scientific and clinical understanding of fibromyalgia. *Arthritis Research & Therapy*, 11(5), 242.
 https://doi.org/10.1186/ar2720
- Buskila, D., & Cohen, H. (2007). Comorbidity of fibromyalgia and psychiatric disorders. *Current Pain and Headache Reports*, 11(5), 333-338.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s11916-007-0214-4

- Carola, V., D'Olimpio, F., Brunamonti, E., Mangia, F., & Renzi, P. (2002). Evaluation of the elevated plus-maze and open-field tests for the assessment of anxiety-related behaviour in inbred mice. *Behavioural Brain Research*, *134*(1-2), 49-57. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0166-4328(01)00452-1
- Carter, M., & Shieh, J. C. (2015). The open field test as a measure of anxiety [Figure]. In *Guide to research techniques in neuroscience* (2nd ed., p. 58). Academic Press.

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2020). *Fibromyalgia*. https://www.cdc.gov/arthritis/basics/fibromyalgia.htm

- Cimmino, M. A., Ferrone, C., & Cutolo, M. (2011). Epidemiology of chronic musculoskeletal pain. *Best Practice & Research Clinical Rheumatology*, 25(2), 173-183. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.berh.2010.01.012
- Clauw, D. J., Arnold, L. M., & McCarberg, B. H. (2011). The science of fibromyalgia. *Mayo Clinic Proceedings*, 86(9), 907-911. https://doi.org/10.4065/mcp.2011.0206
- Cole, J. A., Rothman, K. J., Cabral, H. J., Zhang, Y., & Farraye, F. A. (2006). Migraine, fibromyalgia, and depression among people with IBS: A prevalence study. *BMC Gastroenterology*, 6(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-230x-6-26
- Cook, D. B., Lange, G., Ciccone, D. S., Liu, W., Steffener, J., & Natelson, B. H. (2004).
 Functional imaging of pain in patients with primary fibromyalgia. *The Journal of Rheumatology*, *31*(2), 364-378.
- Cosci, F., Pennato, T., Bernini, O., & Berrocal, C. (2011). Psychological well-being, negative affectivity, and functional impairment in fibromyalgia. *Psychotherapy and Psychosomatics*, 80(4), 256-258. https://doi.org/10.1159/000322031

- Crofford, L. J. (2002). The hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis in fibromyalgia: Where are we in 2001? *Journal of Musculoskeletal Pain*, *10*(1-2), 215-220. https://doi.org/10.1300/j094v10n01_17
- Crofford, L. J., & Appleton, B. E. (2001). Complementary and alternative therapies for fibromyalgia. *Current Rheumatology Reports*, 3(2), 147-156. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11926-001-0010-9
- Crofford, L. J., Mease, P. J., Simpson, S. L., Young, J. P., Martin, S. A., Haig, G. M., & Sharma, U. (2008). Fibromyalgia relapse evaluation and efficacy for durability of meaningful relief (FREEDOM): A 6-month, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial with pregabalin. *Pain*, *136*(3), 419-431. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pain.2008.02.027
- Crofford, L. J., Rowbotham, M. C., Mease, P. J., Russell, I. J., Dworkin, R. H., Corbin,
 A. E., Young, J. P., LaMoreaux, L. K., Martin, S. A., & Sharma, U. (2005).
 Pregabalin for the treatment of fibromyalgia syndrome: Results of a randomized,
 double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. *Arthritis & Rheumatism*, 52(4), 1264-1273.
 https://doi.org/10.1002/art.20983
- Crombie, I. K., Croft, P. R., Linton, S. J., LeResche, L., & Von Korff, M. (1999). *Epidemiology of pain: A report of the Task Force on Epidemiology of the International Association for the Study of Pain* (1st ed.). IASP Press.
- Davis, M. C., Zautra, A. J., & Reich, J. W. (2001). Vulnerability to stress among women in chronic pain from fibromyalgia and osteoarthritis. *Annals of Behavioral Medicine*, 23(3), 215-226. https://doi.org/10.1207/s15324796abm2303_9

- DeSantana, J. M., da Cruz, K. M., & Sluka, K. A. (2013). Animal models of fibromyalgia. Arthritis Research & Therapy, 15(6), 222. https://doi.org/10.1186/ar4402
- DeSantana, J. M., & Sluka, K. A. (2008). Central mechanisms in the maintenance of chronic widespread noninflammatory muscle pain. *Current Pain and Headache Reports*, 12(5), 338-343. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11916-008-0057-7
- Dixon, W. J. (1980). Efficient analysis of experimental observations. Annual Review of Pharmacology and Toxicology, 20(1), 441-462. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.pa.20.040180.002301
- Dooley, D. J., Taylor, C. P., Donevan, S., & Feltner, D. (2007). Ca2+ channel α2δ ligands: Novel modulators of neurotransmission. *Trends in Pharmacological Sciences*, 28(2), 75-82. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tips.2006.12.006
- Elvin, A., Siösteen, A., Nilsson, A., & Kosek, E. (2006). Decreased muscle blood flow in fibromyalgia patients during standardised muscle exercise: A contrast media enhanced colour Doppler study. *European Journal of Pain*, 10(2), 137. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejpain.2005.02.001
- French, J. A., Kugler, A. R., Robbins, J. L., Knapp, L. E., & Garofalo, E. A. (2003).
 Dose-response trial of pregabalin adjunctive therapy in patients with partial seizures. *Neurology*, 60(10), 1631-1637. https://doi.org/10.1212/01.wnl.0000068024.20285.65
- Gogas, K. R., Lechner, S. M., Markison, S., Williams, J. P., McCarthy, W., Grigoriadis,
 D. E., & Foster, A. C. (2007). Anxiety. In J. B. Taylor & D. J. Triggle (Eds.), *Comprehensive medicinal chemistry II* (pp. 85-115). Elsevier Science.

- Goldenberg, D. L., Burckhardt, C., & Crofford, L. (2004). Management of fibromyalgia syndrome. JAMA, 292(19), 2388. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.292.19.2388
- Gould, T. D., Dao, D. T., & Kovacsics, C. E. (2009). The open field test. In T. D. Gould (Ed.), *Mood and anxiety related phenotypes in mice: Characterization using behavioral tests* (pp. 1-20). Humana Press.
- Gracely, R. H., Petzke, F., Wolf, J. M., & Clauw, D. J. (2002). Functional magnetic resonance imaging evidence of augmented pain processing in fibromyalgia. *Arthritis & Rheumatism*, 46(5), 1333-1343. https://doi.org/10.1002/art.10225
- Granges, G., & Littlejohn, G. (1993). Pressure pain threshold in pain-free subjects, in patients with chronic regional pain syndromes, and in patients with fibromyalgia syndrome. *Arthritis & Rheumatism*, 36(5), 642-646. https://doi.org/10.1002/art.1780360510
- Hegmann, J. P., & DeFries, J. C. (1968). Open-field behavior in mice: Genetic analysis of repeated measures. *Psychonomic Science*, 13(1), 27-28. https://doi.org/10.3758/bf03342392
- Ho, Y. J., Eichendorff, J., & Schwarting, R. K. (2002). Individual response profiles of male Wistar rats in animal models for anxiety and depression. *Behavioural Brain Research*, 136(1), 1-12. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0166-4328(02)00089-X
- Hoffman, D. L., & Dukes, E. M. (2007). The health status burden of people with fibromyalgia: A review of studies that assessed health status with the SF-36 or the SF-12. *International Journal of Clinical Practice*, 62(1), 115-126. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1742-1241.2007.01638.x

- Hsu, E. S. (2011). Acute and chronic pain management in fibromyalgia: Updates on pharmacotherapy. *American Journal of Therapeutics*, 18(6), 487-509. https://doi.org/10.1097/mjt.0b013e3181d6b6d4
- Hudson, J. I., Goldenberg, D. L., Pope, H. G., Keck, P. E., & Schlesinger, L. (1993).
 Comorbidity of fibromyalgia with medical and psychiatric disorders. *Survey of Anesthesiology*, *37*(2), 93. https://doi.org/10.1097/00132586-199304000-00037
- Häuser, W., & Fitzcharles, M. (2018). Facts and myths pertaining to fibromyalgia. *Dialogues in Clinical Neuroscience*, 20(1), 53-62.
 https://doi.org/10.31887/dcns.2018.20.1/whauser
- Häuser, W., & Henningsen, P. (2014). Fibromyalgia syndrome: A somatoform disorder? *European Journal of Pain*, 18(8), 1052-1059.
 https://doi.org/10.1002/j.1532-2149.2014.00453.x
- Inanici, F. F., & Yunus, M. B. (2004). History of fibromyalgia: Past to present. *Current Pain and Headache Reports*, 8(5), 369-378. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11916-996-0010-6
- International Association for the Study of Pain. (2017). *IASP terminology*. https://www.iasp-pain.org/Education/Content.aspx?ItemNumber=1698
- Ivinskis, A. (1968). The reliability of behavioural measures obtained in the open-field. Australian Journal of Psychology, 20(3), 173-177. https://doi.org/10.1080/00049536808255754

- Jensen, K. B., Kosek, E., Petzke, F., Carville, S., Fransson, P., Marcus, H., Williams,
 S. C., Choy, E., Giesecke, T., Mainguy, Y., Gracely, R., & Ingvar, M. (2009).
 Evidence of dysfunctional pain inhibition in fibromyalgia reflected in rACC during provoked pain. *Pain*, *144*(1), 95-100. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pain.2009.03.018
- Julien, N., Goffaux, P., Arsenault, P., & Marchand, S. (2005). Widespread pain in fibromyalgia is related to a deficit of endogenous pain inhibition. *Pain*, 114(1), 295-302. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pain.2004.12.032
- Khasar, S. H., Dina, O. A., Green, P. G., & Levine, J. D. (2009). Sound stress-induced long-term enhancement of mechanical hyperalgesia in rats is maintained by sympathoadrenal catecholamines. *The Journal of Pain*, *10*(10), 1073-1077. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpain.2009.04.005
- Kim, S. C., Landon, J. E., & Solomon, D. H. (2013). Clinical characteristics and medication uses among fibromyalgia patients newly prescribed amitriptyline, duloxetine, gabapentin, or pregabalin. *Arthritis Care & Research*, 65(11), 1813-1819. https://doi.org/10.1002/acr.22071
- Kim, S., Song, J., Mun, H., & Park, K. U. (2009). Effect of the combined use of tramadol and milnacipran on pain threshold in an animal model of fibromyalgia. *The Korean Journal of Internal Medicine*, 24(2), 139. https://doi.org/10.3904/kjim.2009.24.2.139
- Kratz, A. L., Davis, M. C., & Zautra, A. J. (2007). Pain acceptance moderates the relation between pain and negative affect in female osteoarthritis and fibromyalgia patients. *Annals of Behavioral Medicine*, 33(3), 291-301. https://doi.org/10.1007/bf02879911

- Lacasse, A., Bourgault, P., & Choinière, M. (2016). Fibromyalgia-related costs and loss of productivity: A substantial societal burden. *BMC Musculoskeletal Disorders*, 17(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12891-016-1027-6
- Leventhal, L. J. (1999). Management of fibromyalgia. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, *131*(11), 850. https://doi.org/10.7326/0003-4819-131-11-199912070-00009
- Lindell, L., Bergman, S., Petersson, I. F., Jacobsson, L. T., & Herrström, P. (2000).
 Prevalence of fibromyalgia and chronic widespread pain. *Scandinavian Journal of Primary Health Care*, 18(3), 149-153. https://doi.org/10.1080/028134300453340
- Lister, R. G. (1987). The use of a plus-maze to measure anxiety in the mouse. *Psychopharmacology*, *92*(2). https://doi.org/10.1007/bf00177912
- Liu, Y. T., Shao, Y. W., Yen, C. T., & Shaw, F. Z. (2014). Acid-induced hyperalgesia and anxio-depressive comorbidity in rats. *Physiology & Behavior*, 131, 105-110. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2014.03.030
- Loeser, J. D. (1991). What is chronic pain? *Theoretical Medicine*, *12*(3), 213-225. https://doi.org/10.1007/bf00489607
- Lund, N., Bengtsson, A., & Thorborg, P. (1986). Muscle tissue oxygen pressure in primary fibromyalgia. *Scandinavian Journal of Rheumatology*, 15(2), 165-173. https://doi.org/10.3109/03009748609102084
- Lyseng-Williamson, K. A., & Siddiqui, M. A. (2008). Pregabalin: A review of its use in fibromyalgia. *Drugs*, 68(15), 2205-2223. https://doi.org/10.2165/00003495-200868150-00009
- Mandal, A. (2019). *History of fibromyalgia*. News Medical. https://www.newsmedical.net/health/History-of-Fibromyalgia.aspx

Mease, P. (2005). Fibromyalgia syndrome: Review of clinical presentation, pathogenesis, outcome measures, and treatment. *The Journal of Rheumatology*, *75*, 6-21.

Mease, P. J., Dundon, K., & Sarzi-Puttini, P. (2011). Pharmacotherapy of fibromyalgia. Best Practice & Research Clinical Rheumatology, 25(2), 285-297. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.berh.2011.01.015

Meeus, M., & Nijs, J. (2006). Central sensitization: A biopsychosocial explanation for chronic widespread pain in patients with fibromyalgia and chronic fatigue syndrome. *Clinical Rheumatology*, 26(4), 465-473. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10067-006-0433-9

- Miller, R., Frame, B., Corrigan, B., Burger, P., Bockbrader, H., Garofalo, E., & Lalonde,
 R. (2003). Exposure-response analysis of pregabalin add-on treatment of patients with
 refractory partial seizures. *Clinical Pharmacology & Therapeutics*, 73(6), 491-505.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/s0009-9236(03)00049-3
- Montoya, P., Sitges, C., García-Herrera, M., Izquierdo, R., Truyols, M., Blay, N., & Collado, D. (2005). Abnormal affective modulation of somatosensory brain processing among patients with fibromyalgia. *Psychosomatic Medicine*, 67(6), 957-963. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.psy.0000188401.55394.18
- Nagakura, Y., Oe, T., Aoki, T., & Matsuoka, N. (2009). Biogenic amine depletion causes chronic muscular pain and tactile allodynia accompanied by depression: A putative animal model of fibromyalgia. *Pain*, *146*(1), 26-33. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pain.2009.05.024

- Nasu, T., Kubo, A., Queme, L. F., & Mizumura, K. (2019). A single administration of neurotropin reduced the elongated immobility time in the forced swimming test of rats exposed to repeated cold stress. *Behavioural Pharmacology*, *30*(7), 547-554. https://doi.org/10.1097/FBP.000000000000488
- Nazeri, M., Zarei, M. R., Pourzare, A. R., Ghahreh-Chahi, H. R., Abareghi, F., & Shabani, M. (2018). Evidence of altered trigeminal nociception in an animal model of fibromyalgia. *Pain Medicine*, 19(2), 328-335. https://doi.org/10.1093/pm/pnx114

Nebel, M. B., & Gracely, R. H. (2009). Neuroimaging of fibromyalgia. *Rheumatic Disease Clinics of North America*, 35(2), 313-327. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rdc.2009.06.004

- Nielsen, A. N., Mathiesen, C., & Blackburn-Munro, G. (2004). Pharmacological characterisation of acid-induced muscle allodynia in rats. *European Journal of Pharmacology*, 487(1-3), 93-103. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejphar.2004.01.017
- Nielsen, L. A., & Henriksson, K. G. (2007). Pathophysiological mechanisms in chronic musculoskeletal pain (fibromyalgia): The role of central and peripheral sensitization and pain disinhibition. *Best Practice & Research Clinical Rheumatology*, 21(3), 465-480. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.berh.2007.03.007
- Nishiyori, M., & Ueda, H. (2008). Prolonged gabapentin analgesia in an experimental mouse model of fibromyalgia. *Molecular Pain*, 4(52). https://doi.org/10.1186/1744-8069-4-52
- Paul, E. S., Harding, E. J., & Mendl, M. (2005). Measuring emotional processes in animals: The utility of a cognitive approach. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, 29(3), 469-491. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2005.01.002

- Penrod, J. R., Bernatsky, S., Adam, V., Baron, M., Dayan, N., & Dobkin, P. L. (2004). Health services costs and their determinants in women with fibromyalgia. *The Journal of Rheumatology*, 31(7), 1391-1398.
- Petersel, D. L., Dror, V., & Cheung, R. (2010). Central amplification and fibromyalgia: Disorder of pain processing. *Journal of Neuroscience Research*, 89(1), 29-34. https://doi.org/10.1002/jnr.22512
- Petzke, F., Clauw, D. J., Ambrose, K., Khine, A., & Gracely, R. H. (2003). Increased pain sensitivity in fibromyalgia: Effects of stimulus type and mode of presentation. *Pain*, 105(3), 403-413. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0304-3959(03)00204-5
- Pioro-Boisset, M., Esdaile, J. M., & Fitzcharles, M. (1996). Alternative medicine use in fibromyalgia syndrome. *Arthritis Care & Research*, 9(1), 13-17. https://doi.org/10.1002/art.1790090105
- Prabhakar, A., Kaiser, J. M., Novitch, M. B., Cornett, E. M., Urman, R. D., & Kaye,
 A. D. (2019). The role of complementary and alternative medicine treatments in
 fibromyalgia: A comprehensive review. *Current Rheumatology Reports*,
 21(5). https://doi.org/10.1007/s11926-019-0814-0
- Price, D. D. (1999). *Psychological mechanisms of pain and analgesia: Progress in pain research and management*. International Association for the Study of Pain.

Price, D. D., & Harkins, S. W. (1992). The affective-motivational dimension of pain: A two-stage model. APS Journal, 1(4), 229-239. https://doi.org/10.1016/1058-9139(92)90054-g

- Price, D. D., Staud, R., Robinson, M. E., Mauderli, A. P., Cannon, R., & Vierck, C. J. (2002). Enhanced temporal summation of second pain and its central modulation in fibromyalgia patients. *Pain*, 99(1), 49-59. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0304-3959(02)00053-2
- Price, D. D., & Staud, R. (2005). Neurobiology of fibromyalgia syndrome. *The Journal* of *Rheumatology*, 75, 22-28.
- Queiroz, L. P. (2013). Worldwide epidemiology of fibromyalgia. *Current Pain and Headache Reports*, *17*(8). https://doi.org/10.1007/s11916-013-0356-5
- Radhakrishnan, R., Bement, M. K., Skyba, D., Sluka, K. A., & Kehl, L. J. (2004). Models of muscle pain: Carrageenan model and acidic saline model. *Current Protocols in Pharmacology*, 25(1). https://doi.org/10.1002/0471141755.ph0535s25
- Rainville, P. (2002). Brain mechanisms of pain affect and pain modulation. *Current Opinion in Neurobiology*, 12(2), 195-204. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0959-4388(02)00313-6
- Rainville, P., Bao, Q. V., & Chrétien, P. (2005). Pain-related emotions modulate experimental pain perception and autonomic responses. *Pain*, *118*(3), 306-318. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pain.2005.08.022
- Raphael, K. G., Janal, M. N., Nayak, S., Schwartz, J. E., & Gallagher, R. M. (2004). Familial aggregation of depression in fibromyalgia: A community-based test of alternate hypotheses. *Pain*, *110*(1), 449-460.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pain.2004.04.039
- Robinson, R. L., Kroenke, K., Williams, D. A., Mease, P., Chen, Y., Faries, D., Peng, X., Hann, D., Wohlreich, M., & McCarberg, B. (2013). Longitudinal observation of treatment patterns and outcomes for patients with fibromyalgia: 12-month findings from the REFLECTIONS Study. *Pain Medicine*, *14*(9), 1400-1415. https://doi.org/10.1111/pme.12168
- Rooks, D. S. (2007). Fibromyalgia treatment update. *Current Opinion in Rheumatology*, *19*(2), 111-117. https://doi.org/10.1097/bor.0b013e328040bffa
- Saeki, K., Yasuda, S., Kato, M., Kano, M., Domon, Y., Arakawa, N., & Kitano, Y.
 (2019). Analgesic effects of mirogabalin, a novel ligand for α2δ subunit of voltagegated calcium channels, in experimental animal models of fibromyalgia. *Naunyn-Schmiedeberg's Archives of Pharmacology*, 392(6), 723-728.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s00210-019-01628-z
- Salemi, S., Rethage, J., Wollina, U., Michel, B. A., Gay, R. E., Gay, S., & Sprott, H. (2003). Detection of interleukin 1β (IL-1β), IL-6, and tumor necrosis factor-α in skin of patients with fibromyalgia. *The Journal of Rheumatology*, 30(1), 146-150.
- Sanchez, R., Uribe, C., Li, H., Alvir, J., Deminski, M., Chandran, A., & Palacio, A. (2011). Longitudinal evaluation of health care utilization and costs during the first three years after a new diagnosis of fibromyalgia. *Current Medical Research and Opinion*, 27(3), 663-671. https://doi.org/10.1185/03007995.2010.550605
- Seibenhener, M. L., & Wooten, M. C. (2015). Use of the open field maze to measure locomotor and anxiety-like behavior in mice. *Journal of Visualized Experiments*, 52434. https://doi.org/10.3791/52434

- Sharma, N. K., Ryals, J. M., Liu, H., Liu, W., & Wright, D. E. (2009). Acidic salineinduced primary and secondary mechanical hyperalgesia in mice. *The Journal of Pain*, 10(12), 1231-1241. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpain.2009.04.014
- Sharma, N. K., Ryals, J. M., Gajewski, B. J., & Wright, D. E. (2010). Aerobic exercise alters analgesia and neurotrophin-3 synthesis in an animal model of chronic widespread pain. *Physical Therapy*, 90(5), 714-725. https://doi.org/10.2522/ptj.20090168
- Skaer, T. L. (2014). Fibromyalgia: Disease synopsis, medication cost effectiveness and economic burden. *PharmacoEconomics*, 32(5), 457-466. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40273-014-0137-y
- Sluka, K. A., & Clauw, D. J. (2016). Neurobiology of fibromyalgia and chronic widespread pain. *Neuroscience*, 338, 114-129. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2016.06.006
- Sluka, K. A., Kalra, A., & Moore, S. A. (2001). Unilateral intramuscular injections of acidic saline produce a bilateral, long-lasting hyperalgesia. *Muscle & Nerve*, 24(1), 37-46. https://doi.org/10.1002/1097-4598(200101)24:1%3C37::aidmus4%3E3.0.co;2-8
- Sluka, K. A., Rohlwing, J. J., Bussey, R. A., Eikenberry, S. A., & Wilken, J. M. (2002).
 Chronic muscle pain induced by repeated acid injection is reversed by spinally administered μ- and δ-, but not κ-, opioid receptor agonists. *Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics*, 302(3), 1146-1150.
 https://doi.org/10.1124/jpet.102.033167

- Sprott, H., Bradley, L. A., Oh, S. J., Wintersberger, W., Alarcón, G. S., Mussell, H. G., Tseng, A., Gay, R. E., & Gay, S. (1998). Immunohistochemical and molecular studies of serotonin, substance P, galanin, pituitary adenylyl cyclase-activating polypeptide, and secretoneurin in fibromyalgic muscle tissue. *Arthritis & Rheumatism*, 41(9), 1689-1694. https://doi.org/10.1002/1529-0131(199809)41:9<1689::aidart21>3.0.co;2-x
- Staud, R. (2006). Biology and therapy of fibromyalgia: Pain in fibromyalgia syndrome. Arthritis Research & Therapy, 8(208). https://doi.org/10.1186/ar1950
- Staud, R., Price, D. D., Robinson, M. E., & Vierck, C. J. (2004). Body pain area and pain-related negative affect predict clinical pain intensity in patients with fibromyalgia. *The Journal of Pain*, 5(6), 338-343. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpain.2004.05.007
- Staud, R., Robinson, M. E., Vierck, C. J., Cannon, R. C., Mauderli, A. P., & Price, D. D. (2003). Ratings of experimental pain and pain-related negative affect predict clinical pain in patients with fibromyalgia syndrome. *Pain*, 105(1), 215-222. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0304-3959(03)00208-2
- Staud, R., & Rodriguez, M. E. (2006). Mechanisms of disease: Pain in fibromyalgia syndrome. *Nature Clinical Practice Rheumatology*, 2, 90-98. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncprheum0091
- Staud, R., & Smitherman, M. L. (2002). Peripheral and central sensitization in fibromyalgia: Pathogenetic role. *Current Pain and Headache Reports*, 6(4), 259-266. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11916-002-0046-1

- Staud, R., & Spaeth, M. (2008). Psychophysical and neurochemical abnormalities of pain processing in fibromyalgia. CNS Spectrums, 13(S5), 12-17. https://doi.org/10.1017/s109285290002678x
- Staud, R., Vierck, C. J., Robinson, M. E., & Price, D. D. (2006). Overall fibromyalgia pain is predicted by ratings of local pain and pain-related negative affect: Possible role of peripheral tissues. *Rheumatology*, 45(11), 1409-1415. https://doi.org/10.1093/rheumatology/kel121
- Taenzer, P., Melzack, R., & Jeans, M. E. (1986). Influence of psychological factors on postoperative pain, mood and analgesic requirements. *Pain*, 24(3), 331-342. https://doi.org/10.1016/0304-3959(86)90119-3
- Taylor, C. P., Angelotti, T., & Fauman, E. (2007). Pharmacology and mechanism of action of pregabalin: The calcium channel α2-δ (alpha2-delta) subunit as a target for antiepileptic drug discovery. *Epilepsy Research*, 73(2), 137-150. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eplepsyres.2006.09.008
- Thieme, K., Turk, D. C., & Flor, H. (2004). Comorbid depression and anxiety in fibromyalgia syndrome: Relationship to somatic and psychosocial variables. *Psychosomatic Medicine*, 66(6), 837-844.
 https://doi.org/10.1097/01.psy.0000146329.63158.40
- The United States Social Security Administration. (2012). *Tender point sites* [Figure]. SSR 12-2p: Titles II and XVI: Evaluation of fibromyalgia. https://www.ssa.gov/OP Home/rulings/di/01/SSR2012-02-di-01.html

- Valvassori, S. S., Varela, R. B., & Quevedo, J. (2013). Animal models of mood disorders: Focus on bipolar disorder and depression. In P. M. Conn (Ed.), *Animal models for the study of human disease* (pp. 991-1001). Academic Press.
- Vartanian, M. G., Radulovic, L. L., Kinsora, J. J., Serpa, K. A., Vergnes, M., Bertram, E., & Taylor, C. P. (2006). Activity profile of pregabalin in rodent models of epilepsy and ataxia. *Epilepsy Research*, 68(3), 189-205.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eplepsyres.2005.11.001
- Verbunt, J. A., Pernot, D. H., & Smeets, R. J. (2008). Disability and quality of life in patients with fibromyalgia. *Health and Quality of Life Outcomes*, 6(1), 8. https://doi.org/10.1186/1477-7525-6-8
- Vincent, A., Whipple, M. O., McAllister, S. J., Aleman, K. M., & St Sauver, J. L. (2015).
 A cross-sectional assessment of the prevalence of multiple chronic conditions and medication use in a sample of community-dwelling adults with fibromyalgia in Olmsted County, Minnesota. *BMJ Open*, 5(3), e006681.
 https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2014-006681
- Wade, J. B., Price, D. D., Hamer, R. M., Schwartz, S. M., & Hart, R. P. (1990). An emotional component analysis of chronic pain. *Pain*, 40(3), 303-310.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/0304-3959(90)91127-5
- Williams, D. A., & Clauw, D. J. (2009). Understanding fibromyalgia: Lessons from the broader pain research community. *The Journal of Pain*, *10*(8), 777-791. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpain.2009.06.001

- Wolfe, F., Anderson, J., Harkness, D., Bennett, R. M., Caro, X. J., Goldenberg, D. L., Russell, I. J., & Yunus, M. B. (1997). A prospective, longitudinal, multicenter study of service utilization and costs in fibromyalgia. *Arthritis & Rheumatism*, 40(9), 1560-1570. https://doi.org/10.1002/art.1780400904
- Wolfe, F., Hassett, A. L., Walitt, B., & Michaud, K. (2010). Mortality in fibromyalgia: A study of 8,186 patients over thirty-five years. *Arthritis Care & Research*, 63(1), 94-101. https://doi.org/10.1002/acr.20301
- Wolfe, F., Ross, K., Anderson, J., & Russell, I. J. (1995). Aspects of fibromyalgia in the general population: Sex, pain threshold, and fibromyalgia symptoms. *The Journal of Rheumatology*, 22(1), 151-156.
- Wolfe, F., Ross, K., Anderson, J., Russell, I. J., & Hebert, L. (1995). The prevalence and characteristics of fibromyalgia in the general population. *Arthritis & Rheumatism*, 38(1), 19-28. https://doi.org/10.1002/art.1780380104
- Wolfe, F., Smythe, H. A., Yunus, M. B., Bennett, R. M., Bombardier, C., Goldenberg,
 D. L., Tugwell, P., Campbell, S. M., Abeles, M., Clark, P., Fam, A. G., Farber, S. J.,
 Fiechtner, J. J., Franklin, C. M., Gatter, R. A., Hamaty, D., Lessard, J., Lichtbroun,
 A. S., Masi, A. T., ... Sheon, R. P. (1990). The American College of Rheumatology
 1990 criteria for the classification of fibromyalgia. *Arthritis & Rheumatism*, *33*(2).
 https://doi.org/10.1002/art.1780330203
- World Health Organization. (2004). *ICD-10: International statistical classification of diseases and related health problems, tenth revision* (2nd ed.).

- Yokoyama, T., Maeda, Y., Audette, K. M., & Sluka, K. A. (2007). Pregabalin reduces muscle and cutaneous hyperalgesia in two models of chronic muscle pain in rats. *The Journal of Pain*, 8(5), 422-429. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpain.2006.11.007
- Yunus, M. B. (2001). The role of gender in fibromyalgia syndrome. *Current Rheumatology Reports*, 3(2), 128-134. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11926-001-0008-3
- Zimcikova, E., Simko, J., Karesova, I., Kremlacek, J., & Malakova, J. (2017). Behavioral effects of antiepileptic drugs in rats: Are the effects on mood and behavior detectable in open-field test? *Seizure*, *52*, 35-40. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.seizure.2017.09.015

BIOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION

Michelle Bland is a senior undergraduate student at the University of Texas at Arlington who is pursuing an Honors Bachelor of Science in Biology and an Honors Bachelor of Science in Psychology with two minors in Neuroscience and Biochemistry. In 2018, Michelle began participating in university research and has since made major contributions to four different labs in the Biology, Psychology, and Chemistry departments. As an undergraduate research assistant, she has prior experience with health and aging research under Dr. Robert Gatchel, for which she has published two articles on the epidemiology and treatment of chronic pain in Pain Management and the Journal of Applied Biobehavioral Research. As of 2021, Michelle's ongoing research focuses on social determinants of physical and mental health under Dr. Lauri Jensen-Campbell, preclinical pain models of anxiety and cognition under Dr. Perry Fuchs, and target-directed total synthesis of organic oxazolone molecules under Dr. Carl Lovely, respectively. Alongside her studies and research interests, Michelle is the current president of the Psi Chi International Honor Society in Psychology chapter at the University of Texas at Arlington and has held the position since 2019. Following graduation in spring 2021, she intends to pursue a dual doctoral program to obtain an M.D. and Ph.D.